

ZERO DRAFT

Political Declaration of the United Nations General Assembly High-level Meeting on Pandemic Prevention, Preparedness and Response

We, Heads of State and Government and representatives of States and Governments, assembled at the United Nations on 20 September 2023, with a dedicated focus [for the first time CHN DELETE] on pandemic prevention, preparedness and response, affirm that [all SYR ADD] pandemics [call for, exacerbated by climate change, biodiversity loss and pollution pose an existential threat to humanity, and therefore require BGD REPLACE] [timely GBR DELETE], urgent and continued leadership, [global solidarity increased international cooperation CANZ REPLACE], multilateral commitment and cooperation among Member States and with relevant United Nations entities and other relevant international organizations, [regional organizations, civil society, and the private sector USA ADD][international financing institutions and relevant stakeholders, including civil society and the private sector GBR ADD] to implement robust [national, regional and CRM ADD] [coordinated and coherent SYR ADD] global [, regional, [and PAK ADD] national [and local PAK DELETE] CRM DELETE] actions, driven by [science USA ADD][the need to prioritize PAK, AG ADD] equity and the respect for human rights [and fundamental freedoms USA ADD], to strengthen pandemic prevention, preparedness [and CHN DELETE] response, [and recovery CHN ADD] and fully address the direct and indirect consequences of [current and CRM, CHN DELETE] future pandemics, and in this regard we [express our strong resolve to BGD ADD]; (Based on A/RES/74/2 and A/RES/76/301)

[CRM - Move up the following PPs: PP11, PP12, PP13]

PP1pre. Reaffirm the right of every human being, without distinction of any kind, to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health; (A/RES/74/2 paragraph1 verbatim); [AG ADD]

PP1. Recognize that [[a pandemic [situation ARG DELETE] is [extraordinary rare CRM REPLACE] [both CHN ADD] in nature IRN DELETE] [the extraordinary nature of pandemic situations IRN ADD][and in human history CHN ADD] and that CANZ DELETE] the devastation caused by the COVID-19 pandemic has brought urgency to efforts to [support countries and IRN ADD] strengthen [and collaborate CHN ADD] the way [countries and IRN DELETE] the world [work AG ADD] prevent, prepare for, and respond to [disease outbreaks EU ADD] [pandemics and ARG DELETE] [other SYR ADD] health emergencies [, including pandemics ARG ADD] [based on lessons learned from COVID 19 and other recent outbreaks and health threats EU ADD]; (Based on WHA A76/10 PP1)

PP1bis. Reflecting on the lessons learned from coronavirus disease (COVID-19) and other outbreaks with global and regional impact, including, inter alia, HIV, Ebola virus disease, Zika virus disease, Middle East respiratory syndrome and monkeypox/mpoxm and with a view to addressing and closing gaps and improving

future response" (source: Zero draft of the WHO CA+, A/INB/4/3) [EU ADD or can accept the shorter reference in PP1 as an option]

PP1alt. Recognize that the illness, death, and disruption caused by the COVID-19 pandemic have reminded the world of the enduring reality of recurring infectious disease emergencies, and brought urgency to the need for strengthening the way the world prepares for, prevent and respond to outbreaks, epidemics, pandemics and other health emergencies; [USA ADD]

PP2. Recognize also that the COVID-19 pandemic [is was GBR REPLACE; has been HS, CRI REPLACE][still GTM ADD] one of the greatest global challenges in the history of the United Nations, and note with deep concern [the loss of life it caused and HS ADD][that for the first time in a generation, extreme poverty increased, with an estimated 75 to 95 million more people living in extreme poverty when compared with pre-pandemic projections and that EU ADD] its [negative ARG, USA, GTM ADD] impact [on poverty reduction, inequality and human development, CRI ADD][across all spheres of society, CRI ADD] on [both physical and mental HS ADD] health [, life expectancy CRI ADD][and the loss of life, mental health and well-being HS DELETE] [and sexual and reproductive health EU ADD], as well as [the negative impact ARG DELETE] on global humanitarian needs, on gender equality and the empowerment of [all women and girls women, young women and girls, in all their diversity MEX REPLACE], [and the full USA ADD] enjoyment of [human CHN DELETE] rights [to health CHN ADD] [and fundamental freedoms, as well as the burden of the pandemic USA ADD] [and HS DELETE] [across all spheres of society, including [on curtailed USA REPLACE] livelihoods CRI DELETE], food security and nutrition, [climate change resilience, GBR ADD] [and GBR, CRI DELETE] education, the exacerbation of poverty [in all its forms and dimensions, including extreme poverty PER ADD] and hunger [disruptions in the care of older persons and persons with disabilities, BGD ADD], [economic development and USA ADD] disruption to economies, [supply chains, PAK, SYR ADD] trade, societies and the environment, [and BLR DELETE] the exacerbation of economic and social inequalities [and gender-based violence USA ADD] within and among countries [, and the creation of new challenges to combatting crime, including trafficking in persons (Based on PP4 of A/RES/76/186) BLR ADD] [,which is reversing hard-won development gains and hampering progress towards achieving the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and all its Goals and targets UK, VNM ADD][requiring a whole-of-UN and whole-of-government response EU ADD]; (Based on A/RES/77/275 PP13) [IDN DELETE PP2]

PP2bis. Recognize also the need to protect populations from pandemics, in particular people with pre-existing health conditions, older people, and other groups at risk, including health professionals, health workers and other relevant frontline workers, especially women, who represent the majority of the health workforce, as well as

people with disabilities, children and adolescents, and people in vulnerable situations; and stressing the importance of age- and disability-sensitive and gender-responsive measures in this regard; (WHA 73.1) [BGD ADD]

PP2bis. Reaffirming the ambition to get back on track to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals by implementing sustainable and inclusive multisectoral recovery strategies to accelerate progress towards the full implementation of the 2030 Agenda and to help reduce the risk of future shocks; (Based on A/RES/75/233 pp18) [CANZ ADD]

PP2ter. Expressing grave concern about the devastating impact of the COVID-19 pandemic across the world, especially in countries ravaged by armed conflicts, or in post-conflict situations, or affected by humanitarian crises, and recognizing that infectious disease outbreaks can constitute threats to international peace and security; (Based on S/RES/2532 (2020) PP3 and S/RES/2177(2014) PP5) [CANZ ADD]

PP2bis. Affirm that pandemics, exacerbated by climate change, weak health systems, poverty and inequality, pose an existential threat to humanity, as evidenced by the COVID-19 pandemic and the subsequent reversal in progress on the Sustainable Development Goals, and therefore require call for timely, urgent and continued leadership at the highest level of government; [CRI ADD]

PP3. Express concern [~~that with GBR REPLACE~~] the [~~continued GBR ADD~~] emergence and re-emergence of [~~epidemic-prone infectious CHN REPLACE~~] diseases [~~continues to accelerate GBR DELETE~~] [~~are likely to continue USA ADD~~], and recognize that [~~the COVID-19 pandemics haves EU REPLACE~~] [~~had ARG, GBR, CRI ADD~~] a disproportionate impact on [~~low and middle-income developing BRA, CHN, GTM, SYR REPLACE~~] countries [, ~~small island developing states DOM ADD~~] as well as [~~older persons, USA, HS ADD~~] people living in poverty [~~in rural areas, USA ADD~~] [~~and people living with co-morbidities including, noncommunicable diseases CRM ADD~~] [~~in all its forms and dimensions, including extreme poverty PER ADD~~], [~~women and girls HS DELETE~~] [~~in different situations and conditions EU ADD~~] [~~all women and girls women, young women and girls, in all their diversity MEX REPLACE~~], [~~older adults, persons with underlying chronic conditions or living with HIV/AIDS, Indigenous Peoples CANZ ADD~~] [~~Indigenous People, PER ADD~~] [~~people affected by war and armed conflicts, UKR ADD~~] [~~children, Indigenous People, people of African descent, and older persons, MEX ADD~~] migrants, refugees, internally displaced persons [, ~~older persons CHL, SLV ADD~~] and persons with disabilities, [~~and older people and those with pre-existing health conditions BGD ADD~~] [~~People of African Descent CRM ADD~~] as well as [~~those [who are vulnerable or CANZ, MEX DELETE~~] people EU REPLACE] in vulnerable situations [~~and conditions, including humanitarian settings and conflict-affected areas as well as communities at the human-animal-environment~~

interface EU ADD], with repercussions on health and development gains, thus hampering the achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals; (Based on A/RES/77/275 PP5) [IDN DELETE PP3]

PP3bis. Recognizing that the COVID-19 pandemic had a disproportionately heavy impact on older persons, in particular older women, and acknowledging the need to integrate lessons learned from the pandemic with regard to older persons in order to combat ageism, protect the human rights of older persons and to strengthen existing policies, as well as to take concrete measures to address particular impediments that they face in accessing health services, and to ensure that health-care decisions affecting older persons respect their dignity and promote and protect their human rights; (Based on A/RES/76/138, PP.12, OP.39, OP.44) [CHL ADD]

PP3alt. Recognize also that the COVID-19 pandemic has a disproportionate impact to developing countries particularly on low and middle-income countries as well as the poorest and most vulnerable, including people living in poverty, women and girls, migrants, refugees, internally displaced persons and persons with disabilities, as well as those who are vulnerable or in vulnerable situations, with repercussions on health and development gains, thus hampering the achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals; [IDN ADD]

PP3alt-bis. Express concern that there remains a fundamental mismatch between the scale and speed at which funds are required to finance large-scale operations and ensure equitable and timely access to pandemic-related products during global and regional health emergencies; (WHA A76/10, PP22, from original PP6) [IDN ADD]

PP3alt-ter. Express concern on the disruptive impact created by the COVID-19 Pandemic, further that during the height of the COVID-19 pandemic, affecting health-care services that is prolonged even after three years into the pandemic where 92% of Member States reported disruptions to almost half of essential health services monitored (45% of services disrupted on average), and three years into the COVID-19 pandemic, 84% of countries continued to report disruption to at least one essential health service (23% of services disrupted on average); (WHA A76/6, OP12) (from original PP5) [IDN ADD]

PP3bis. Express appreciation for the work of frontline and health workers and scientific practitioners for their dedication to treating those infected with SARS-CoV-2, sometimes at the cost of their own lives, and for their contributions to the successful development of clinical trials for vaccines, therapeutics and diagnostics to enable their use while the pandemic was still at its height, saving many millions of lives; [USA ADD]

PP3bis. Express serious concerns regarding the unilateral coercive measures and their negative effects including on the population of the affected countries, in particular women and children, which hinder their well-being and create obstacles to the full

enjoyment of their human rights, including the right of everyone to a standard of living adequate for their health and well-being and medical care; [IRN ADD]

PP4. Express [deep IDN, MEX ADD] concern [about discrepancies in COVID-19 vaccination rates USA ADD] also that [the impact of COVID-19 is further exacerbated IDN ADD] [also that IDN DELETE] the inequities [, due to securing more vaccines by countries than needed and export restrictions, BGD ADD] [within and between countries and regions EU ADD] in [vaccination and access to medical countermeasures including for COVID-19 EU ADD] [access to EU DELETE] [[medical countermeasures GBR ADD] related to [COVID-19 EU DELETE] [products, including therapeutics, vaccines, diagnostics and other medical tools MEX ADD] [medicines MEX ADD], such as [vaccines GBR, EU, IND DELETE], therapeutics, diagnostics and other health technologies AG ADD] [and other health products THA ADD] [are have been ARG REPLACE; remain HS REPLACE] [and diagnostics MEX ADD][are stark IDN DELETE], [as particularly demonstrated AG ADD] with [22% 27% JPN REPLACE] of the population fully vaccinated in [low[er]-EU DELETE]income developing countries GTM REPLACE] economies compared to 75% in high-income economies, as of ~~19 December 2022~~ 30 April 2023 JPN REPLACE], [, a pattern which is likely to repeat in future health emergencies without dedicated action HS ADD][and noting that during the most acute phase of the COVID-19 pandemic, some countries carried out national strategies to secure more vaccines than needed, regardless of limited global supply, negatively impacting timely access to COVID-19 vaccines for populations of developing countries, and export restrictions negatively affecting vaccines global supply, including their vital components and materials; (Based on A/RES/77/151, PP11 and A/HRC/50/51, OP29, as well as COVAX: key learning for future pandemic preparedness and response) PAK ADD] [stressing that access to vaccines depends on diverse factors EU ADD][, while also noting various levels of low vaccine confidence, uptake, and demand that impact global COVID-19 vaccinations USA ADD][and in that regard, recognize the need to address bottlenecks in the universal, effective, efficient and equitable distribution and administration of vaccines among and within countries with the aim of boosting immunization through effective vaccination campaigns globally SLV ADD]; (Based on WHA A76/6)

PP4alt. Express concern also that the inequities in access to COVID-19 vaccines products, including therapeutics, vaccines, diagnostics and other medical tools are stark, noting with concern that during the most acute phase of the pandemic, export restrictions and over-purchasing of COVID-19 products affected the equitable access to them by all countries, in particular developing countries, and ultimately undermining their capacity to protect the health of populations, including their access to vaccines; (based on A/RES/77/151, PP11 and A/HRC/50/51, OP29) [CRI ADD]

PP5. Express [further concern further CRM PLACING] that during the height of the COVID-19 pandemic, 92% of Member States reported disruptions to almost half of essential health services monitored [(45% of services disrupted on average) HS DELETE], and three years into the COVID-19 pandemic, 84% of countries continued to report disruption to at least one essential health service [(23% of services disrupted on average) HS DELETE]; (WHA A76/6, OP12) [IDN, EU DELETE]

PP6. Express [further concern further CRM PLACING] that the COVID-19 pandemic has reversed years of progress made [in public health USA ADD] [in many areas [including the implementation of the 2030 Agenda and the Sustainable Development Goals, CRI ADD] on implementing the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development EU REPLACE][including the fight against Tuberculosis, HIV/AIDS and Malaria MEX ADD], [with the latest available data suggesting that continued disruptions have affected affecting HS REPLACE] health systems [specifically primary healthcare EU ADD] and [communities as well as CANZ ADD] health outcomes [and the wider social determinants of health CANZ ADD] worldwide [and the biggest setback in poverty-reduction efforts in decades, as well as a decline of the Human Development Index in over 90% of countries, CRI ADD][[and evidence with the full scope HS REPLACE] of its [full HS DELETE] impact [will emerge in years to come still unknown HS REPLACE] CANZ DELETE] [and recognize that robust and resilient health services are core to delivering on the Sustainable Development Goals, including ending HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis, and malaria and advancing universal health coverage, recognizing the opportunity for alignment and synergies that the three high-level meetings on pandemic preparedness, prevention, and response CANZ ADD]; (Based on WHA A76/37) [IDN, GBR DELETE]

PP6bis. Express deep concern about the uneven access of developing countries, particularly African countries, to safe, quality, efficacious, effective, accessible and affordable vaccines against COVID-19, and emphasize that the realization of the right to development would enhance the capacities of developing countries to prevent, prepare for and respond to pandemics, including through the achievement universal health coverage and have equal access to vaccines and other health technologies and means to respond to and recover from pandemics and health emergencies, as well as reaffirm the need to strengthen the support for national, regional and multilateral initiatives that aim to accelerate the development and production of and equitable access to diagnostics, therapeutics and vaccines; (Based on PP29 of A/RES/77/212); [AG ADD]

PP6bis. Express deep concern that the global epidemics of AIDS and TB continue to affect every region of the world, remaining a global emergency and among top 10 causes of deaths in low-income countries (Based on para 15, A/Res/75/284 and para 6, A/Res/73/3); [CANZ ADD]

PP7. ~~[[Express concern that [there remains a [fundamental NOR DELETE] mismatch between current efforts do not meet HS REPLACE]—the [scope of current financing mechanisms, AG ADD] scale and speed at which funds are required to finance Acknowledge that more needs to be done to identify sources of funding to rapidly surge more effective and equitable responses, including to facilitate USA REPLACE] large-scale operations [both for prevention and response EU ADD] and [ensure more USA REPLACE] [equitable and timely access to [financial support to implement science-based measures to prevent spillover of pathogens to avert health emergencies as well as CRI ADD]pandemic-related [emergency response-related USA ADD]products unhindered, timely and equitable access to, medical countermeasures such as vaccines, therapeutics and diagnostics, BRA ADD] [equitable [affordable CHN ADD]and timely [response to Pandemic, including IDN ADD] aeeess to [[medical countermeasures CANZ ADD][medical countermeasures (in all places replacing pandemic related products) BGD ADD] including AG ADD] [pandemic-related health technologies and ARG REPLACE] [health AG ADD] [pandemic related products CANZ, BGD DELETE] timely access to quality, safe, effective and affordable medical countermeasures until the last mile EU REPLACE] [, including their components and precursors ARG ADD] [, services and information PAK, THA ADD][and services COL ADD] during [global and regional public ARG REPLACE] [pandemic USA ADD] health [and other UKR ADD] emergencies [recognizing that funding for global health preparedness, prevention and response are needed in advance to ensure a swift global response in the future CRI ADD][of international concern with pandemic characteristics or potential to become a pandemic ARG ADD] [, including natural disasters, war and armed conflict UKR ADD] [recognizing that contingent at-risk funding for global health agencies and mechanisms are needed in advance to ensure a swift global response BGD ADD] [, including the lack of harmonized and enabling legislative and regulatory framework, as well as Intellectual Property barriers for rapid distribution and mass production of medicines, diagnostics and vaccines, especially in low and middle-income countries MEX ADD]; (WHA A76/10, PP22)~~

PP7bis. Note with deep concern the lack of global solidarity shown in response to the numerous public health emergencies that Africa has faced and continues to face, including the Ebola Virus Disease, Lassa fever, Dengue, Malaria, Cholera, Yellow fever, Marburg Virus Disease, HIV/AIDS and Tuberculosis. (Health Emergency Information and Risk Assessment, WHO, Africa Region May 2023); ~~[AG ADD]~~

PP8. Recognize the need to ~~[build [and maintain USA ADD] trust within and [between among ARG, PAK REPLACE] countries [including governments, international organizations, and other relevant stakeholders, USA ADD][, prioritize equity AG ADD] [and communities BGD ADD] and [to USA ADD][strengthen maximise EU REPLACE] political will to HS DELETE] [capitalize [now EU ADD] on the momentum from the build on the lessons learned from CRI REPLACE] COVID-19~~

response [[by turning [, where appropriate, EU ADD] temporarily sealed up [preventive and response IDN ADD] capacities into [permanent sustainable EU REPLACE] capacities],—agendas and networks AG, CHN, SYR DELETE] GBR, HS, RUS DELETE] [by building on lessons learned and best practices and respond to gaps and challenges by establishing and welcome CRI REPLACE][in a sustainable manner AG ADD] CHE, PAK, CANZ DELETE] [and EU ADD] by [building acting GBR ADD] to build USA REPLACE] on [the GBR ADD] lessons learned and best practices [from COVID-19 and past health emergencies USA ADD][to ensure the world is better placed to prevent, prepare for and respond to the next pandemic and/or global health crisis GBR ADD] [, ensuring countries and the wider global community are better positioned to embed rapid response capabilities, and scale up pandemic response capacities on demand, and strengthening political accountability, CANZ ADD] [[and welcome [renewed USA ADD][multilateral, AG ADD] [regional and CRM, SYR ADD] international [innovative CRM ADD] [and regional AG ADD] [frameworks attention on the need USA REPLACE] for in a spirit of HS REPLACE; grounded on CRI REPLACE] international cooperation [and CRI DELETE] [global CANZ DELETE] solidarity GBR, EU, IRN DELETE] [and policy coherence CRI ADD][based on the principle of common but differentiated responsibilities PAK, SYR ADD][on global health and health security CANZ ADD][in order to break the cycle of panic and neglect JPN ADD]; (New language) [BRA RESERVE][MEX DELETE]

PP8bis. Acknowledge the importance of adequately funded multilateral response mechanisms for equitable effective pandemic response, particularly equitable delivery of and access to medical countermeasures, and in this regard stressing the urgency for the international community to establish, as soon as possible, a mechanism for a coordinated and powerful response in the event of future pandemics, focusing on the relevant functions, drawing on lessons learnt from and welcoming the efforts of the Access to COVID-19 Tools (ACT) Accelerator, including its COVAX Facility, and other initiatives, to speed up the development, production, manufacturing and equitable access to COVID-19 vaccines, therapeutics, diagnostics and essential supplies, to ensure that no one is left behind, while also welcoming the important work of the COVID-19 Vaccine Delivery Partnership (COVDP) to support vaccination in humanitarian settings, stressing that a countermeasures platform is crucial to foster equity and should be an integral part of a World Health Organization convention, agreement or other international instrument on pandemic prevention, preparedness and response; (Based on A/RES/76/257) [EU ADD]

PP8bis. Express deep concern that the global epidemics of AIDS and TB continue to affect every region of the world, remaining a global emergency and among top 10 causes of deaths in low-income countries (Based on para 15, A/Res/75/284 and para 6, A/Res/73/3); [USA ADD]

PP8ter. Recognize the need to step up comprehensive action to fight antimicrobial resistance (AMR), a silent pandemic which is not silent anymore and may be the next pandemic, shifting more people into poverty, impacting agricultural production, economies and food security, in particular in low-income and lower middle-income countries . It is urgent to act, through a One health approach, encompassing human health, animal health and the environment. Tackling AMR requires a high level of collaboration across sectors and between countries at global level; [EU ADD]

PP8bis. Recognize further that economic growth and sustainable development are essential for the prevention of, preparedness for and responding to pandemics; [IRN ADD]

PP8ter. Recognize the importance of international cooperation and effective multilateralism in ensuring that all States, in particular developing countries, including the least developed countries, have affordable, timely, equitable and universal access to vaccines, medicine and medical products in order to prepare for and respond to pandemics; [IRN ADD]

PP8bis. Recognize the importance of addressing the economic and financial constraints faced by developing countries, and deeply disturbed by the negative impact of unilateral coercive measures on the right to life, the right of everyone to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health and medical care for pandemic prevention, preparedness and response; (source: based on A\HRC\RES\49\6 PP22) [SYR ADD]

PP9. [Underscore the fundamental importance for the international community of reaching the conclusion of a ambitious and legally binding World Health Organization convention, agreement or other international instrument on pandemic prevention, preparedness and response and EU ADD][Welcome this meeting as a sign of further enhancing political momentum toward more coordinated and sustained leader-level governance for health emergency prevention, preparedness, and response that ensures legitimacy, representation, equity, and effectiveness, noting USA ADD][Note with appreciation Support CRI REPLACE] [the progress made in HS DELETE] [other ongoing discussions, including USA ADD] [Note with appreciation the progress made in SYR DELETE] the work of the Intergovernmental Negotiating Body, [[which is drafting and negotiating on HS REPLACE] a World Health Organization convention, agreement or other international instrument on pandemic prevention, preparedness and response, [(WHO CA+) JPN ADD] EU DELETE][for Member States of the World Health Organization, USA ADD] and [that of HS ADD] the [wWorking gGroup on [Amendments to CANZ ADD] the International Health Regulations [that is HS DELETE]econsidering aAmendments to the International Health Regulations (2005), [mindful recognizing EU REPLACE] that [the final USA REPLACE] decisions [under regarding HS REPLACE] [such both USA REPLACE] processes will be made by the seventy-seventh ARG REPLACE] World Health

Assembly [and can be reviewed by the General Assembly in the wake of future pandemics PAK ADD] [, and underscoring the need to avoid duplication and ensure coherence between these processes USA ADD]; (A/RES/77/275, Verbatim PP12)

PP10. [Reaffirm Strengthen CRI REPLACE] [the highest-level GBR ADD] [to strengthen IDN ADD] [our commitment to mobilize CRM ADD] political will [and determination EU ADD] at the [subnational EU ADD] national, regional and [international global PER REPLACE] levels to [prevent, prepare for, prevent, EU PLACEMENT] and respond to pandemics, and [promote the importance of HS REPLACE] [greater IDN ADD] international cooperation, [multilateralism VNM ADD] [coordination GBR ADD] [and based on IDN ADD] global solidarity [for advancing health systems [equity, PAK, VNM, BGD ADD] resilience and recovery, to achieve that end, with all efforts HS REPLACE] [particularly in developing countries, IDN ADD] [informed by], and [aligned coordinated HS REPLACE] with and supporting EU ADD] the work of the Intergovernmental Negotiating Body [to draft and negotiate a new convention, agreement, or other international health instrument to strengthen pandemic prevention, preparedness, and response] and of the Working Group on Amendments to the International Health Regulations (2005); **IRN DELETE**] (Based A/RES/77/275, OP5)

PP10bis. Recognize the need to strengthen linkages between efforts towards pandemic prevention, preparedness and response and the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, including towards achieving universal health coverage and ending tuberculosis, through the Sustainable Development Goals review processes, including the high-level political forum on sustainable development and to ensure that the outcomes of the Political Declarations of the UN high-level meeting on PPPR, UHC and Tuberculosis in 2023 are coherent with the decisions made at the World Health Assembly as the leading and coordinating forum for health; (New Language) [GBR ADD]

PP11. Recognize that health is a precondition for and an outcome and indicator of all three dimensions – economic, social and environmental – of sustainable development and [the implementation of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development and EU ADD] that, despite progress made, challenges in global health, including major inequities and vulnerabilities within and among countries, regions and populations, still remain and demand persistent and urgent attention [and further recognize that health is an investment in human capital and social and economic development, towards the full realization of human potential, and significantly contributes to the promotion and protection of human rights and dignity as well as the empowerment of all people; DOM ADD (Based on A/RES/74/2 OP8)]; (A/RES/76/301, Verbatim PP 7) **[EU DELETE]**

PP11bis. Recognize the negative impact of armed conflicts, in particular those related to an armed aggression of one state against sovereignty and territorial integrity of another State in violation of the Charter of the United Nations, on healthcare institutions, workers, patients, and contact persons in war-affected areas and in the illegally occupied territories and increase the risk of spreading diseases; in this regard expresses its concern over the increased risks stemming from the aggression of the Russian Federation against Ukraine, in particular attacks on healthcare facilities and medical personnel, as well as disruption of pandemic prevention and lack of access to medical services in the conflict-affected areas and in the temporarily occupied territories of Ukraine; [UKR ADD]

PP11bis. Recognize the need for broad stakeholder and community participation in all pandemic preparedness and response actions, ensure community ownership of local response needs, while including those most affected by health emergencies by promoting community involvement in activities ranging from reporting unfamiliar diseases as part of biosurveillance, to participating in clinical studies on the safety and efficacy of candidate vaccines, therapeutics and diagnostics, to integrating inclusive global health processes, reaching from remote communities to national and international bodies through transparent information-sharing and inclusive processes; [USA ADD]

PP11ter. Recognizing also that stakeholder and community engagement and participation is an antidote to the mistrust that plagues public health; and helps build understanding of and trust in response measures, from initial public health measures to vaccines, therapeutics and diagnostics validated through clinical research conducted in accordance with Good Participatory Practice (GPP), thereby improving community compliance with measures to prevent or control pandemics; (New language) [USA ADD]

PP11ter. Reaffirm that medicine must not be used as a tool for political pressure; [IRN ADD]

PP12. Recognize also the need to tackle health inequities and inequalities, [with a particular focus on access to primary health care and essential public health functions, EU ADD] [within and IRN DELETE] among countries [and communities BGD ADD], through political commitment, policies and international cooperation [and solidarity ARG ADD], including those that address [social, economic and environmental [and other PAK DELETE] IDN DELETE] determinants of health and ensure that no one is left behind, with an endeavor to reach the furthest behind first, [founded on [human rights and CANZ ADD] the dignity [of the human person IRN DELETE] and IDN DELETE] reflecting the principles of equity, equality and non-discrimination [and common but differentiated responsibilities PAK ADD][as well as to empower those who are

vulnerable or in vulnerable situations and address their physical and mental health needs SYR ADD]; (Based on A/RES/74/2, OP11 and OP70) [EU DELETE]

PP12Bis. Recognizing the need to develop and strengthen a sustainable, equitable, effective, and efficient end-to-end medical countermeasures (MCMs) ecosystem from research and development, manufacturing, stockpiling, distribution to actual administration based on lessons from the Covid-19 pandemic, including the ACT-A Independent Evaluation and other relevant evaluations; (New language based on Final Report of BUILDING CONSENSUS FOR AN EQUITABLE AND SUSTAINABLE MEDICAL COUNTERMEASURES PLATFORM FOR THE NEXT PANDEMIC, Senior-Level Technical Meeting, Johannesburg, South Africa February 23rd-24th, 2023) [JPN ADD]

PP13. ~~Reeognize further that, through the adoption of~~ Reaffirm our commitment to IDN REPLACE] the Addis Ababa Action Agenda of the Third International Conference on Financing for Development, ~~through which we commit to we~~ IDN ADD] supported research and development of vaccines and medicines, as well as preventive measures and treatments for communicable and non-communicable diseases, in particular those that disproportionately impact ~~developing low- and middle-income EU~~ REPLACE] countries; (A/RES/77/275, Verbatim PP3) [EU DELETE]

PP13bis. Welcome the efforts of regional mechanisms that provide timely access to quality vaccines and vaccination supplies by consolidating demand from national immunization programs and leveraging the benefits of economies of scale to improve its purchasing power and supports all door-to-door procurement and logistics processes to get products from manufacturers to countries; (PAHO Revolving Fund Brochure 2022) [URY ADD]

PP13bis. Recognize also the need to tackle misinformation and disinformation, and to prevent stigmatization; [CHN ADD]

PP14. ~~Note Acknowledge AG~~ REPLACE] that ~~[diversifying EU~~ ADD] ~~[the CANZ~~ DELETE] ~~[local~~ diversified, sustainable USA REPLACE] [and/or regional CANZ, EU, BGD, CRI ADD] [and regional PAK, THA, VNM ADD] ~~[local and regional~~ production capacity IDN ADD][innovation and CRI ADD] production ~~[capacities EU~~ ADD] of ~~[vaccines, PAK, VNM, BGD, HS, CRI ADD]~~[diagnostics, therapeutics HS ADD] medicines and ~~[developing EU~~ ADD] other health ~~[products technologies is a~~ critical development to can CHN REPLACE] ~~[products and BGD, CRI ADD]~~ technologies ~~[is are [a~~ HS DELETE] critical ~~[development HS~~ DELETE][for more resilient health systems and pandemic preparedness, prevention and response, and CRI ADD] for more resilient health systems and pandemic response, and can contribute to to provide for greater BGD REPLACE] ~~[a critical development to prevent and response to pandemics and on that note emphasis on the importance of~~ IDN ADD] ~~[is a critical development to provide and products as well as an enabling~~

environment for manufacturing can provide EU REPLACE] [is [important CANZ ADD] [a critical development to provide CANZ DELETE] for greater sustainability of IDN DELETE] [unhindered IDN ADD] supply chains, [and equitable distribution of health technologies HS ADD][as well as equitable access to medical countermeasures EU ADD] especially [[in during HS REPLACE] public during a pandemic or other CANZ REPLACE] health emergencies; (WHA 74.6, Verbatim PP16)

PP14bis. Recognize that the types of information publicly available on data across the value chain of health products, including prices effectively paid by different actors and costs, vary among Member States and that the availability of comparable price information may facilitate efforts towards affordable and equitable access to health products; (WHA 72.8 verbatim PP5); [AG ADD]

PP15. Recognize the need to [support [developing low- and middle-income EU REPLACE] countries in CANZ DELETE] build[ing CANZ DELETE] expertise [and lessons learned, PAK ADD] and in developing [local], national CRM ADD] and regional [research, innovation and HS ADD][spillover and disease prevention and CRI ADD] manufacturing [and production CRM ADD] capacities [for [health technologies HS ADD] [[tools vaccines, medicines, diagnostics and health technologies CRM REPLACE; health products CRI REPLACE], [including [but not limited to AG ADD] [by building on AG DELETE] [efforts lessons learned CANZ REPLACE][and lessons learned BGD, CRI ADD] under the [Access to COVID-19 Tools Accelerator (ACT-A) MEX ADD][COVID-19 Vaccine Global Access (COVAX) Facility MEX, SAU DELETE] GBR, EU DELETE] HS DELETE] CHN DELETE], [technology transfer hubs, and intellectual property sharing mechanisms such as WHO's COVID Technology Access Pool and Medicines Patent Pool AG ADD] with a view to developing NOR, EU DELETE] improved [national, regional and CRM ADD] global[, regional and local CRM DELETE][innovation, CRI ADD] manufacturing, [access CRI ADD][handling improving supply chain networks, and handling delivery and logistics BGD REPLACE] and distribution capacities [improving supply chain networks for production, supply, delivery and logistics; CRI ADD][while further enabling the increased use of [and equitable access to CRI ADD] health technologies and the digital transformation of health systems CHN DELETE] [[so that they are resilient, agile, and adaptable for reaching populations worldwide, CRI ADD] particularly hard to reach communities in under-developed areas PAK ADD][for them to be resilient and adaptable for reaching populations worldwide, particularly hard to reach communities in low-resource settings BGD ADD][and acknowledging the importance of existing international efforts performed in this regard SAU ADD]; (A/RES/76/257, Verbatim PP17)

PPalt. merged pp14 and 15: Noting that the local production of medicines and other health technologies is a critical development to provide for greater sustainability of supply chains, especially in public health emergencies, recognize the need to support low-

and middle-income countries in building expertise and in developing improved global, regional and local manufacturing, handling and distribution capacities while further enabling the increased use of health technologies and the digital transformation of health systems; (Based on WHA 74.6, PP16 and A/RES/76/257, PP17) [EU ADD]

PP16. Recognize also the [critical UKR DELETE] role of international collaboration [and cooperation IRN ADD] in research and development [on a global, collaborative scale], [including particularly ARG REPLACE] in [peer-review CRI ADD][multi-country ARG, CRM DELETE][and comparative CRI ADD] clinical [and vaccine ARG DELETE] trials [that are health-needs driven, well designed and well implemented and that are guided by established ethical guidance ARG ADD], as well as rapid diagnostics test [, other technologies MEX ADD] and assay development, [[but while CRM REPLACE] acknowledging the need for [greater collaboration and support in expanding capacities for drug and vaccine development as well as AG ADD] further HS DELETE][in line with HS ADD] rigorous scientific [evidence, HS DELETE] protocols, [and HS ADD] standards [and international collaboration for research and evidence HS REPLACE][, including for conducting them in diverse settings that encompass all major population groups the intervention is intended to benefit ARG ADD] to [inform and HS ADD] assess [the causes and effects of health emergencies, EU ADD] [the role and impact of public health and societal interventions and for evidence-informed HS DELETE] decision-making in public health emergencies [including on associated comparative cost-effectiveness evaluations (WHA 75.8) ARG ADD][, and highlight that those interventions need to have a gender perspective in order to avoid mistakes COVID-19 vaccines trials that didn't take into account the differentiated effects on women's health MEX ADD]; (WHA74.7 PP26)

PP16alt. Recognize also the critical role of research and development on a global, collaborative scale, including multi-country clinical trials, including for vaccines and innovative therapeutics as well as rapid diagnostics test and assay development, and the need for well-designed research, protocols, and, acknowledging that trials meeting international standards, such as those of the International Council for Harmonization of Technical Requirements for Pharmaceuticals for Human Use (ICH) are essential for producing rigorous scientific evidence allowing regulatory authorities to provide scientific evidence, adjudicate applications for emergency use authorization, and protocols and standards that allow for the assessment of the role and impact of public health and societal interventions and for evidence-informed decision-making in public health emergencies, which must also be a priority and of high quality; (WHA74.7 PP26, WHA75.8) [USA ADD]

PP16bis. Recognize with appreciation to the sharing of COVID-19 virus genetic sequence to rapid develop diagnostic testing reagent, vaccines and medications, and express

the deep concerns on unequal benefits sharing and access to medical products derived from genetic sequence sharing; [CHN ADD]

PP17. Recognize further the important role played by [both the public and CRI ADD] private sector in research and development of innovative medicines [and technologies EU ADD], [encourage the strengthening of clinical research capacities for diseases disproportionately affecting developing countries, further ARG ADD] encourage the use, where appropriate, of alternative financing mechanisms for research and development as a driver of innovation for new medicines and new uses for [existing USA ADD] medicines [while promote the transparency of funding across the value chain ARG ADD] [and continue to support [voluntary CRI DELETE] initiatives IDN DELETE] and incentive mechanisms that [separate the cost of investment in support USA REPLACE] research and development [from independent of USA REPLACE] the price and volume of sales, facilitate equitable [timely, JPN ADD] and affordable access to new tools and other results to be gained through research and development[, including on transparency of markets for pandemic-related products ARG ADD]; (A/RES/74/2, Verbatim PP53) [IND ADD]

PP17bis. Acknowledge that present and future pandemics pose unprecedented challenges to humanity and to science, given the urgent need within 100 days of recognition of a pandemic pathogen, to develop safe and effective vaccines, while enabling equitable access to vaccines and other biologic countermeasures; and acknowledge the important role played by the scientific community, and the role of the private and public sector, in research and development of innovative medicines and their critical role in our common objective to protect present and future generations from pandemics. Commit to facilitate a One Health approach to discovery of new tools and other results to be gained through research and development, and sustainable and predictable financing during inter-pandemic periods, as well as ready-releasable surge financing to respond immediately to new outbreaks; (Based on A/RES/74/2, PP53) [BGD ADD]

PP17bis. Recognize that, delivery should be an integral part of efforts towards the formulation of an end-to-end MCM ecosystem encompassing the entire value chain from research and development to manufacturing and delivery, and that the planning of delivery shouldmust include everything from stockpiling to vaccination campaigns, telemedicine, and ensuring logistics for last-mile delivery services while considering compliance with the country's regulations ; (New language based on Final Report of BUILDING CONSENSUS FOR AN EQUITABLE AND SUSTAINABLE MEDICAL COUNTERMEASURES PLATFORM FOR THE NEXT PANDEMIC,Senior-Level Technical Meeting, Johannesburg, South Africa February 23rd-24th, 2023) [JPN ADD]

PP18. Recognize further the potential of digital health technologies [, while addressing the existing digital divides in accessing digital and health-related information, BGD ADD] [in—strengthening to strengthen HS REPLACE] secure [, efficient and evidence/science-based EU ADD] communications [in during pandemics and other CANZ REPLACE] health emergencies, implement and support public health measures [while avoiding costly duplications and aiming at reducing the financial burden of health services EU ADD] and bolster national response efforts to pandemics, epidemics and other health emergencies, [in order HS ADD] to protect and empower individuals and communities, while ensuring [personal appropriate USA REPLACE] data protection[and the protection of their rights CRI ADD][, including by building on the global strategy on digital health 2020-2025 HS, IRN DELETE]; (WHA 74/7, PP31)

PP18bis. Recognize the potential for cutting edge technologies, including Artificial Intelligence, to support pandemic prevention, preparedness and response, and emphasize the importance of applying ethical principles and appropriate governance to their development and adoption; (New Language); [GBR ADD]

PP18bis. Recognize further the role of digital technologies to overcome distance barriers in the delivery of health services, and in that regard, the importance of telehealth and telemedicine in the context of pandemics; (Based on WHA/73(28) and A76/37) [SLV ADD]

PP19. Recognize further the critical role of and efforts made by health [-care IDN ADD][and community CRI ADD] workers, [70 per cent of whom are women, [however, despite being the majority of the health workforce, women have just 25% of leadership roles and CHE ADD] (Based on WHO Closing the leadership gap: gender equity and leadership in the global health and care workforce Policy action paper, June 2021) yet face a 24 percentage point pay gap compared to men across the health [and IDN DELETE] care CRM DELETE] sector HS DELETE or move to PP21], and other front-line and essential workers, including humanitarian personnel, around the world aimed at addressing pandemics [disease outbreaks and health emergencies EU ADD] through measures to protect the [physical and mental EU, COL ADD] health, safety and well-being of people, and emphasizing the importance of providing health [-care IDN ADD] and other essential workers with the necessary [fit-for-purpose CANZ, COL ADD] [respect, EU ADD] [physical & workplace and financial BGD ADD] protection [, access, COL ADD][training EU ADD] and support; (A/RES/75/157, PP16)

PP20. Recognize further the need to take necessary steps at the country level to protect health [and IDN DELETE] care CRM, HS DELETE] workers [, especially women care workers, MEX ADD] from all forms of harm, violence, attacks [including missile attacks on health infrastructure, UKR ADD], harassment and discriminatory practices, and to promote their decent [, gender-inclusive EU ADD] and safe working environment and conditions at all times, as well as ensure health [and care CRM, HS DELETE]

workers' physical and mental health [in accordance with the International Humanitarian Law EU ADD] [, while express concern that a market-led and/or pandemic-driven economic demand for international health personnel may have direct or inadvertent consequences on access to health in other countries ARG ADD]; (A/RES/74/2, Verbatim OP64)

PP21. Recognize further the [need to] [adequately EU ADD] invest in importance of CANZ REPLACE] training, developing, recruiting [remunerating EU ADD] and retaining a skilled [and agile EU ADD] [multidisciplinary CANZ, EU ADD] health [emergency CANZ ADD] workforce, [particularly measures to prevent the brain drain of clinicians from developing countries AG ADD] including [public health professionals, EU ADD] doctors, nurses, midwives [and CHE, THA, UKR, EU DELETE] community [and front-line UKR ADD] health [and outreach CANZ ADD] workers [, inter alia through ensuring equal pay for equal work or work of equal value to address the pay gap between women and men health workers, HS ADD] as [ADD: an adequate number of health workers is]] [and mental health workers CHE ADD] [and volunteers THA ADD], [environmental and animal GBR ADD] [and veterinarians/animal health workers at national, regional and global level EU ADD], as fundamental to strong and resilient health systems [and communities CANZ ADD] to prevent, prepare and respond to pandemics and [other CANZ ADD] health emergencies, [maintain access to essential health services, including sexual and reproductive health services CANZ ADD] [and improv[ing] CANZ REPLACE] working conditions and management of the health [emergency CANZ ADD] workforce to ensure the safety of health workers USA DELETE] [especially women health workers, who face harm such as increasing violence and harassment in the workplace, stress, mental health issues, burnout and lack of adequate infection controls and protections CHE, COL ADD] [, especially women health workers, who face violence and harassment in the workplace, stress, mental health issues, burnout and lack of protections BGD ADD]; (Based on WHO EB152(5) PP8 & PP9 + SDG3.c)

PP21bis. Recognizing the negative impact of unilateral coercive measures, which are not in accordance with international law or the Charter, on global efforts to respond to and recover from the COVID-19 pandemic and on the capacities of targeted countries to have equal access to safe, quality, efficacious, effective, accessible and affordable vaccines and other means to respond to and recover from the COVID-19 pandemic, and exacerbating the consequences faced by the population with detrimental impact on the enjoyment of their human rights. (Based on pp.18. HRC Resolution A/RES/77/214); [AG ADD]

PP21alt. merged language 19-21 Recognize further the critical role of and efforts made by health workers, 70 per cent of whom are women, yet face a 24 percentage point pay gap compared to men across the health and care sector, and other front-line and essential workers, including humanitarian personnel, around the world aimed at

addressing pandemics, disease outbreaks and health emergencies, through measures to protect the physical and mental health, safety and well-being of people, and emphasizing the importance of taking necessary steps at the country level to protect health and care workers from all forms of harm, violence, attacks, harassment and discriminatory practices, and to promote their decent, gender-inclusive and safe working environment and conditions at all times, as well as ensure health and care workers' physical and mental health in accordance with the International Humanitarian Law, and recognize the need to adequately invest in training, developing, recruiting, remunerating and retaining a skilled and agile multidisciplinary health workforce, including public health professionals, doctors, nurses, mental health professionals, midwives, and community health workers and veterinarians/ animal health workers at national, regional and global level, as fundamental to strong and resilient health systems to prevent, prepare and respond to pandemics and health emergencies, and improve working conditions and management of the health workforce to ensure the safety of health workers; (Based on A/RES/75/157, PP16, A/RES/74/2, OP64 and WHO EB152(5) PP8 & PP9 + SDG3.c) [EU ADD]

PP22. Recognize further the fundamental role of [equitable and people-centered PAK, VNM, BGD ADD] [and community based BGD ADD] primary health care[, including public health services, USA ADD] in preventing, preparing and responding to [outbreaks and PAK, BGD, CRI ADD] pandemics, [through [progress toward USA ADD] with the overarching goal of achieving and sustaining JPN ADD] universal health coverage and other [health-related AG DELETE] Sustainable Development Goals and targets, as envisioned in the Alma-Ata Declaration and the [Astana Declaration of Astana USA REPLACE], and further recognize that primary health care, including [community-based [and people-centered CHN ADD]-services capacity and infrastructure for primary care, prioritizing essential public health functions PAK REPLACE (Based on Astana Declaration, para V, WHO/HIS/SDS/2018.61); primary health care HS REPLACE] [such as routine immunization programmes VNM, BGD ADD] [and outreach CANZ ADD], brings people into first contact with the health system and is the most inclusive, effective [, equitable EU ADD] and efficient approach to enhance people's [physical and mental IDN DELETE] health, as well as social well-being [and trust EU ADD], noting that primary health care [and [community-led CANZ ADD] health services HS DELETE] should be high quality, safe, [comprehensive, IRN DELETE] integrated, accessible, available [, acceptable HS ADD] and affordable for everyone and everywhere, [including those who live in remote geographical regions or in areas difficult to access PER ADD] noting the work of the World Health Organization on the operational framework for primary health care; (Based on A/RES/74/2 OP13 and OP46, and WHO EB152(5) PP5)

PP23. Recognize also that [equitable CANZ ADD] [governments, the primary USA REPLACE] health [care sector, international organizations, community leaders, and

other relevant stakeholders, USA REPLACE] [services and in particular civil society and community-based organizations CANZ ADD] can contribute to [building trust COL ADD] raising public awareness [bolstering individual and collective health literacy through the education system and beyond EU ADD] [and JPN DELETE] addressing [health-related AG ADD] misinformation [, infodemics MEX ADD] and disinformation, [and enhancing equitable access to MCMs, JPN ADD][including by building trust with the people and communities they serve and THA ADD] including during [pandemics and AG ADD] [public pandemic and other CANZ REPLACE] health emergencies [, and in preventing, preparing for and responding to infectious disease outbreaks CANZ DELETE][that could lead to epidemics or pandemics SYR ADD][, recognize also that the promotion of people's engagement, particularly of women and girls, volunteers, families and communities, and inclusiveness is fundamental for the effective implementation of health policies, strategies and plans, especially in the context of pandemic prevention, preparedness and response (A/RES/76/257) BGD ADD]; (Based on A/RES/77/287, PP13)

PP23alt. merged 22-23: Recognize the fundamental role of primary health care in preventing, preparing and responding to pandemics, through achieving universal health coverage and other health-related Sustainable Development Goals and targets, as envisioned in the Alma-Ata Declaration and the Declaration of Astana, and further recognize that primary health care, including community-based services, brings people into first contact with the health system and is the most inclusive, effective, equitable and efficient approach to enhance people's physical and mental health, as well as social well-being and trust , noting that primary health care and health services should be high quality, safe, comprehensive, integrated, accessible, available and affordable for everyone and everywhere, noting the work of the World Health Organization on the operational framework for primary health care, and recognizing that primary health care can contribute to raising public awareness, bolstering individual and collective health literacy through the education system and beyond and addressing misinformation and disinformation, including during public health emergencies, and in preventing, preparing for and responding to infectious disease outbreaks; (Based on A/RES/74/2 OP13 and OP46, and WHO EB152(5) PP5, A/RES/77/287, PP13) [EU ADD]

PP23bis. Recognizing the importance of involving individuals, families, communities and civil society through their participation in the development and implementation of policies and plans that have an impact on health; (Based on Astana Declaration, para VI, WHO/HIS/SDS/2018) [PAK ADD]

PP23bis. Recognizing the interconnectedness between the health of humans, animals, plants and their shared environment, and the importance of the One Health approach that delivers multiple benefits to the health and well-being of people, animals, plants and ecosystems, that would further strengthen the capacity to

address biodiversity loss, prevent, prepare for and respond to the emergence of diseases, including zoonotic infections and future pandemics, and combat antimicrobial resistance; (Based on E/HLS/2022/1 and WHA 74.7) [GBR ADD]

PP23bis. Recognize the Bangkok Principles for the implementation of the health aspects of the Sendai Framework for Disaster Risk Reduction 2015-2030 and the need to strengthen prevention, preparedness, response and recovery for health emergencies, drawing on lessons learned from the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic, and applying the Bangkok Principles for the implementation of the health aspects of the Sendai Framework to build resilient health systems; (E/HLS/2022/1, para 23; A/RES/76/289, PP16; A/RES/77/289 PP33k) [CANZ ADD]

PP24. Recognize further the need to strengthen [epidemic pandemic CANZ REPLACE] prevention by sharing experience and best practices, and [evidence-based high level decision-making MEX ADD] to raise the level of preparedness, including early warning [systems and collaborative surveillance systems and non-invasive methods such as wastewater surveillance systems, also at community level, able to aggregate and analyse data EU REPLACE], in order to have the earliest [and most HS DELETE] adequate response to any [outbreak or AG ADD] [epidemic or pandemic EU ADD] pandemic CANZ REPLACE] that may arise[, and recognizing also the value of an integrated[, collaborative and inclusive CANZ ADD] [One Health HS DELETE] approach that fosters cooperation between [the protection of environment and the protection of EU ADD] the human [health UKR, EU DELETE], animal [health, EU UKR DELETE] [and plant health CHN DELETE], as well as [[environmental the wider environment CANZ REPLACE] and EU DELETE] other relevant sectors GBR, SYR DELETE]; (A/RES/76/301, Verbatim PP12)

PP24bis. Recognize the urgent need to address antimicrobial resistance (AMR) in the context of pandemic prevention and response as AMR undermines global health security and necessitates coordinated action focused on responsible antimicrobial use, infection prevention, surveillance, research and equitable access; (Based on WHA72.5_Agenda item 11.8_28 May 2019) [DOM ADD]

PP24bis. Recognizing that human, animal and environmental health are interconnected and that human activity, including habitat destruction and conversion, wildlife trade and intensive animal agriculture increases the risk of pathogen spillover from animals to humans, and the need to address the root causes and prevent disease outbreaks through an integrated One Health approach (New language based on A/71/L.2, PP11) [EU ADD]

PP24bis. Recognize the need for all countries to build scientific and clinical medical research capacity in partnership with other countries, international organizations and other entities and the global value that such capacity offers in early detection of

outbreaks with pandemic potential, identification of the cause, information on effective clinical care, and assessing the safety and efficacy of vaccines, therapeutics, and diagnostics in rigorous clinical trials (Based on WHA75.8); [USA ADD]

PP24c. Recognize further the need for governments to have needed preparedness and response capabilities under their authority and direction, to be called upon to contain outbreaks and respond to pandemics and other health emergencies, so that national authority can undertake coordinated response and prevent piecemeal, uncoordinated, and low-quality research, particularly clinical trials, which must meet international standards for their research results to be acceptable for review by stringent regulatory authorities; [USA ADD]

PP25. Recognize further the consequence of the adverse impact of climate change, [loss of biodiversity, pollution natural EU ADD][pollution and biodiversity loss, natural CANZ ADD] disasters [caused by natural hazards CANZ ADD], extreme weather events [, technological, social and environmental disasters UKR ADD] as well as other environmental determinants of health, such as [clean air, CANZ DELETE] safe drinking water, sanitation, [safe, sufficient and nutritious food CRM DELETE] and secure shelter, and in this regard underscore the need to foster [and integrate EU ADD] health in [all environmental policies and in EU ADD] climate change [mitigation and CHE, PAK, VNM, CRM, BGD, CRI ADD] adaptation [pollution prevention, disaster risk reduction and environmental protection CANZ ADD] efforts [integrate climate into pandemic prevention, preparedness and response efforts, as well as effective approaches to addressing antimicrobial resistance, EU ADD][and strengthen the systemic coordination, coherence and integration between disaster and health risk management systems THA ADD (Based on Paragraph 25 of the Political declaration of the High-Level Midterm Review on the Implementation of the Sendai Framework)] underlining that [equitable, BGD ADD] resilient, [, sustainable low-carbon EU ADD][robust VNM ADD] [[and CRI DELETE] [people person ARG REPLACE] [people human EU REPLACE]-centered CANZ DELETE][and rights-based CRI ADD] health systems [and whole-of-society, multisectoral and One Health approaches CANZ ADD] [and an integrated One Health approach EU ADD] are necessary to protect the health [both physical and mental EU ADD] of all people [in different situations and conditions EU ADD], [those who are vulnerable or in vulnerable situations, particularly people living in vulnerable situations and conditions including EU REPLACE] [including those living in small island developing states as well as those CRM ADD] [in particular those [who are vulnerable or living CANZ REPLACE] CRM DELETE] in vulnerable situations [, particularly those living in small island developing States CRM DELETE] [and countries most affected by climate change PAK ADD] [, recognizing the importance of the human right to a clean, healthy and sustainable environment in this regard CRI ADD]; (A/RES/74/2, OP15)

PP25bis. Determined to reduce the risks for future outbreaks of zoonotic diseases, which may lead to epidemics and, in extreme cases, pandemics and their devastating impact on human health and livelihoods, and recognizing that curbing illicit wildlife trafficking and conserving and restoring biodiversity and functioning ecosystems can contribute to reducing the risk of emergence and spread of zoonotic diseases; (PP11, "75/311. Tackling illicit trafficking in wildlife") [EU ADD]

PP25ter. Reiterating the importance of addressing growing antimicrobial resistance through a comprehensive, coordinated, multisectoral, One Health approach to contribute to a strengthened prevention, preparedness and response to pandemics and to achieve the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development; (Based on WHA72.5 (2019) and A/71/L.2, PP11) [EU ADD]

PP25bis. Underscore the need to foster health in climate change adaptation efforts, underlining that resilient and people-centered health systems are necessary to protect the health of all people, in particular those who are vulnerable or in vulnerable situations, particularly those living in small island developing States; [MEX ADD]

PP26. Recognize further the impact of pandemics ~~[on—the as a significant risk factor EU REPLACE]~~ mental health and well-being of all ~~[including youth EU ADD]~~ ~~[and call for the development and strengthening of timely and quality provision and continuity of]~~ [comprehensive ~~[and integrated PAK DELETE]~~ AG, IRN DELETE] ~~[appropriate IRN ADD]~~ mental health ~~[services IRN DELETE]~~ and psychosocial support ~~[IRN ADD]~~, ~~[with particular consideration of frontline health and care workers AG ADD]~~ as part of a broader ~~[whole-of-government and whole-of-society approach]~~ universal health coverage ~~[PAK REPLACE]~~ EU DELETE] ~~[and call for including mental health and psychosocial considerations as essential components in emergency risk reduction and national preparedness for and response to pandemics]~~~~[to pandemic emergencies USA ADD]~~~~[in accordance with national priorities and laws SAU ADD]~~; (New language) [EU MOVE TO OP SECTION] [RUS DELETE]

PP26bis. Note with concern that the unprecedented global school closures during the COVID-19 pandemic have severely affected the learning, development and well-being of children and youth worldwide; (HLPF Ministerial Declaration 2022) [CHE ADD]

PP26bis. Recognize also the importance of planning and preparing for the recovery phase, including to mitigate the impact of the pandemic and of the unintended consequences of public health measures on society, public health, and the economy; [BGD ADD]

PP27. Express concern ~~[that on IDN REPLACE]~~ ~~[that with CANZ REPLACE]~~ ~~[that regarding HS REPLACE]~~the ~~[impact of IDN ADD]~~ ~~[disruptions to]~~ disruptions from the COVID-19 pandemic and the increase of mis and disinformation negatively

impacted USA REPLACE] routine immunization services [[-Globally EU ADD] 25 million particularly affecting HS REPLACE] children under the age of 5 [missed out on routine immunization in 2021 alone HS DELETE] MEX DELETE], [other routine services for managing communicable and non-communicable diseases, BGD ADD] and in this regard emphasize that routine immunization [is one the most efficient and cost-effective healthcare interventions with the greatest reach and demonstrated health outcomes, that IDN ADD] plays a crucial role in preventing outbreaks and future pandemics, [and further emphasize the importance of continuously improving IDN ADD] [[while laying the and that the healthcare delivery HS REPLACE] infrastructure [needed for routine immunization can serve as a foundation HS ADD] for IDN DELETE] [safe, EU ADD] effective [, efficient EU ADD] and equitable [access to MCMs including JPN ADD] vaccine delivery [particularly IDN ADD] during health emergencies, [[and that investing in while noting that GBR ADD] routine immunization, particularly for children, is one of the most efficient and cost-effective health[care CANZ DELETE] [healthcare public health GBR REPLACE] interventions [[with the greatest reach and demonstrated health outcomes IDN DELETE]; in terms of lives saved and economic impact [GBR REPLACE] (New language/statistics from WHA A76/6, PP13)

PP27alt. Combine PP27 with PPs5-6: Express concern further that the COVID-19 pandemic has reversed years of progress made on implementing the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, with the latest available data suggesting that continued disruptions have affected health systems, specifically primary health care and routine immunization services, health outcomes, education systems and economies worldwide and evidence of its full impact will emerge in years to come; (Based on WHA A76/37, WHA A76/6, PP13) [EU ADD]

PP28. Recognize [further that the central role of infection prevention and control protocols, including CANZ REPLACE] hygiene, [including CANZ DELETE] hand hygiene, and access to [adequate clean EU REPLACE] water and [adequate EU ADD] sanitation services, including in health facilities [animal and environmental health settings GBR ADD] are essential for preventing the emergence and spread of infectious diseases[, including infection prevention and control CANZ DELETE] and antimicrobial resistance reduction [in human and animal populations GBR ADD], [that can have a negative impact on [the enjoyment of all human rights human health CHN REPLACE] IDN, CRM DELETE], and highlighting in this regard the importance of urgent universal and equitable access to safe [quality MEX ADD][air and GBR ADD] [drinking CRM DELETE] water and sanitation [and hygiene AG ADD] [and other infection prevention and control measures CANZ ADD], including through enhanced investment, as a crucial aspect of pandemic [prevention, CANZ, USA, SAU ADD] preparedness and response [as well as functioning of health systems in general EU ADD]; (Based on A/RES/76/153 and A/RES/77/287 PP12)

PP28bis. Acknowledge that global efforts on PPPR will be undermined without addressing AMR in parallel, and that the prevalence and impact of drug-resistant pathogens of pandemic potential will inevitably grow without a sustained, long-term response, and recognise that addressing AMR and PPPR together will optimise synergies and contribute to increased impact, efficiency, cost-effectiveness in global health; [GBR ADD]

PP29. [Weleome Taking note of RUS REPLACE] the launch of the Pandemic Fund in November 2022 [and the current work of other international organizations, CHE ADD], to [finance critical investments to USA ADD] strengthen [national NOR DELETE] [, regional and global CANZ ADD] [and regional EU, SAU ADD] [health emergency pandemic USA REPLACE] [prevention, CANZ, EU, CRI, SAU ADD] preparedness, [and USA ADD] response [and resiliee capacities USA REPLACE] [at national, regional, and global levels, NOR, USA ADD] [in with a focus on NOR, CANZ, USA REPLACE] [low-[income AG DELETE] and middle-income developing CHN REPLACE] countries [, as well as its highly successful first call for proposals, EU ADD][CANZ SPLIT PARA HERE] [and recall that financing effective national, regional and global health emergency preparedness will require [sustainable financing EU ADD] [approximately US\$ 30 billion per year [over the next five years from 2022 to strengthen the pandemic prevention, preparedness and response capacity of low- and middle-income countries, about two-thirds of which will have to come from domestic financing JPN ADD], [including \$10 billion in new external financing per year USA ADD][[outside current official development assistance levels JPN DELETE] with a gap of US\$10 billion per year, according to WHO-World Bank analysis GBR REPLACE] EU DELETE] KOR DELETE]]; (WHA A76/10, PP19, WHA A76/10, PP17)

PP29bis. Recall that financing effective national, regional and global health emergency preparedness will require approximately US\$ 30 billion per year [from all sources ADD], [outside current Official Development Assistance levels DELETE] [with an estimated gap of US\$ 10 billion a year ADD]; [CANZ ADD FROM PP29]

CALL TO ACTION

We therefore commit to [scale up our efforts to EU DELETE] strengthen [actions to detect infectious disease outbreaks at their source to prevent future pandemics pandemic prevention, and for BGD REPLACE] preparedness and response [to pandemics BGD ADD] [and further implement through IRN REPLACE, and by implementing the BGD REPLACE]] the following actions [to protect current and future generations GBR ADD]:

Alt. We therefore commit to detect, prevent, and rapidly respond to infectious disease outbreaks at their source to protect humanity from future pandemics, by taking the following actions: [CRI ADD]

EQUITY

OP1.pre Commit to protect and promote the right to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of physical and mental health, in order to advance towards universal and unhindered access to quality, affordable and equitable medical countermeasures; (Based on first part of para 37. of 2018 TB political declaration) [AG ADD]

OP1.pre Reaffirm the sovereign right of each country to implement the recommendations or other proposals in the present political declaration, consistent with national laws and development priorities, with full respect for the various religious and ethical values and cultural backgrounds of its people, and in conformity with universally recognized international human rights; [SAU ADD]

OP1. Strengthen [regional and SAU ADD] international [collaboration cooperation AG REPLACE] [and JPN DELETE] coordination [and governance JPN ADD] at the highest political levels [including the leader-level, ensuring legitimacy, representation, equity, and effectiveness JPN ADD] [including by building on efforts under the COVID-19 Vaccine Global Access (COVAX) Facility GBR ADD] [and across all relevant sectors EU ADD] [with the determination to [reduce inequities VNM DELETE][reduce overcome EU REPLACE]—[reduce inequities and [increase the [sustainable, JPN ADD] fair, equitable[, effective, efficient JPN ADD] and timely access to and EU DELETE]—strengthening reinforce of global, regional and national ARG REPLACE] [strengthening of EU REPLACE] [pandemic-related products SGP ADD] [emergency response-related products USA ADD] [and strengthening of VNM DELETE] to strengthen HS REPLACE] [cross sectoral GBR ADD] [health system CRM ADD] capacities [of health systems SAU ADD] for pandemic prevention, preparedness and response [and maintain responsive and resilient health systems capable of mitigating both the direct and secondary effects of pandemic threats on health and well-being of societies USA ADD]; [conducive to a global response to future pandemics that is equitable, effective, timely and based in solidarity ARG ADD] [through global solidarity and enhanced support including financial and technical support; AG ADD] [for all, particularly people living with vulnerabilities and in vulnerable situations, humanitarian and conflict contexts EU ADD]; (New language) [CANZ DELETE /MERGE WITH OP18] [MEX DELETE/MERGE WITH OP2]

OP1alt. Strengthen international collaboration and coordination [ADD: for pandemic prevention, preparedness and response at the highest political level with the determination to reduce inequities and to accelerate efforts to ensure international, national, regional and local readiness for future pandemics and health emergencies] [DELETE: at the highest political levels with the determination to reduce inequities and increase the fair, equitable and timely access to, and strengthening of capacities for pandemic prevention, preparedness and response; [CHE proposal to merge OP1 and OP18]

OP1bis. Reaffirm the right of everyone to enjoy the benefits of scientific progress and its applications; (Article 15 of ICESCR) [AG ADD]

OP1bis. Strengthen clinical trial ecosystem capacities globally whilst promoting internationally coordinated approaches to enable complimentary well-designed and well-implemented clinical trials as routine practice across global regions; [GBR ADD]

OP1bis. Ensure the accelerated development of vaccines, therapeutics and diagnostics to counter outbreaks with pandemic potential, within 100 days of a health emergency, assessing their safety and efficacy in rigorous clinical trials producing high-quality data for regulatory agency decisions of emergency use authorization or licensing; [USA ADD]

OP2. [[[Seek to ensure/Improve/Facilitate Ensure USA REPLACE] [Ensure Promote EU REPLACE] [unhindered, timely and equitable access to, medical countermeasures (Source SSA2(5), A/RES/77/275) BRA ADD] the [fair, SGP ADD] [timely JPN DELETE], [affordable IDN, AG, CHN, EU,CRI ADD] [sustainable SGP, CHE DELETE] [and JPN DELETE] equitable [, effective, efficient and timely JPN ADD] access to [affordable and effective IND ADD] [safe and effective USA ADD] [medical countermeasures including AG ADD] [pandemic health VNM REPLACE] -related [products services SYR REPLACE, MCMs JPN REPLACE], [pandemic-emergency response-related products USA REPLACE] [pandemic-related products included CANZ DELETE] [such as AG ADD] [especially medical countermeasures EU ADD] including [Personal protective equipment PER ADD] [services and information THA, COL ADD] vaccines, diagnostics, [and CANZ ADD] therapeutics [HS END OP2 HERE] [working together to catalyze the international capability to produce sufficient quantities to vaccinate high risk populations within two hundred days of an outbreak with pandemic potential; surge diagnostics within 12 hours of an outbreak with pandemic potential; and repurpose existing therapeutics within 90 days and develop novel therapies within 180 days of an outbreak with pandemic potential, including through consideration of proposals in USA ADD] [and other health technologies VNM ADD] [at national, regional and global levels; NOR ADD] and ARG DELETE] [recognizing the ongoing discussions on longer term arrangements in the Intergovernmental Negotiating Body and the Working Group on Amendments to the International Health Regulations (2005) in Geneva CANZ ADD] [call on the World Health Organization to [coordinate to be involved in coordinating; GBR REPLACE] [an interim adaptable, agile, sustainable, inclusive, equitable, effective, efficient and accountable multi-sectorholder coordination effort for pandemic-related medical countermeasures CANZ ADD] [this VNM, CANZ DELETE][to coordinate this with together with EU REPLACE] with relevant partners, [including civil society, academia and the private sector MEX ADD][and stakeholders to establish adequate coordination mechanisms EU ADD] [specialized on the global distribution of medical countermeasures, building on the lessons of the

COVID-19 and other pandemic responses, and, BGD ADD] [building on the lessons learned from the COVID-19 and other pandemic responses CRI ADD] [[ensuring coherence with USA DELETE]—the ongoing continue leading the [discussions negotiations EU REPLACE] on preparedness, prevention and response to health emergencies, including pandemics, particularly through of ARG REPLACE] the Intergovernmental Negotiating Body [to Draft and Negotiate a WHO Convention, Agreement or Other International Instrument on Pandemic Prevention, Preparedness and Response USA ADD] and the Working Group on Amendments to the International Health Regulations (2005) in Geneva [and in other regional and multilateral fora USA ADD] CANZ DELETE] PAK DELETE] [guided by the principle of equity and the need to ensure timely, sustainable and equitable access to pandemic-related products, including vaccines, diagnostics, therapeutics during pandemics ARG ADD]; (New language) [GBR RESERVE] [IRN RESERVE ON LAST PART]

OP2alt. Call to improve timely and equitable access to and appropriate use of quality, safe, effective and affordable vaccines, therapeutics including generics, diagnostics and other health technologies without financial hardship for all people, particularly for those who are vulnerable or in vulnerable situations, inter alia, through equity, social justice and social protection mechanisms, building capacity for local and regional production, especially in low- and middle-income countries, voluntary technology transfer on mutually agreed terms, cooperation with, support to and the development of voluntary patent pools and other voluntary initiatives, such as the World Health Organization COVID-19 Technology Access Pool and the Medicines Patent Pool, and promoting generic competition in line with the World Health Organization road map for access to medicines, vaccines and other health products, 2019–2023; (A/RES/76/257, Verbatim PP2) [USA ADD]

OP2bis. Take the necessary measures to address gaps in preventing, preparing for, and responding to health emergencies, including in development and distribution of, and unhindered, timely and equitable access to, medical countermeasures such as vaccines, therapeutics and diagnostics, as well as strengthening health systems and their resilience with a view to achieving universal health coverage; (Based on decision SSA2(5) of 1 December 2021; A/RES/77/275 para 11) [AG ADD]

OP2bis. Further ensure an adaptable, agile, sustainable, inclusive, equitable, effective, efficient and accountable multi-stakeholder coordination mechanism for pandemic-related medical countermeasures, to be adapted as relevant following discussions of the Intergovernmental Negotiating Body and the Working Group on Amendments to the International Health Regulations, which is agile and ready when pandemic emergencies hit and have limited essential operational coordination capacity in inter-pandemic periods, and call on the WHO to host such a mechanism; [NOR ADD]

OP2bis. Stress that a countermeasures platform is crucial to foster equity and should be anchored in the pandemic agreement, and [call for the swift]/[welcome the] introduction of an interim coordination mechanism for medical countermeasures which further builds on the ACT-A partnership model and its resources to cover other pandemic threats beyond COVID and is agile, inclusive, and accountable in delivering the core relevant functions in both interpandemic and pandemic periods, with a scalable model based on lean and equally impactful operational arrangements which build on existing bodies and networks, and is in particular inclusive of LMICs, and that the interim mechanism will support and feed into the negotiations of a WHO convention, agreement or other international instrument on pandemic prevention, preparedness and response (“WHO CA+”) which will be the legal underpinning for a permanent medical countermeasures platform, and will be adjusted to the outcomes of such negotiations; [EU ADD]

OP2bis. Call upon all stakeholders including Member States to cooperate to develop and strengthen an end-to-end global MCM ecosystem, guided by key principles including equity, inclusivity, efficiency, affordability, quality, accountability, agility and speed and in line with the ongoing discussions on the WHO CA+, addressing issues relating to manufacturing and delivery including through related existing initiatives such as MCM Delivery Partnership for Equitable Access (MCDP), taking into account the lessons learnt from ACT-A and its COVAX including the COVID-19 Vaccine Delivery Partnership (CoVDP); (New language) [JPN ADD]

OP3. ~~[[Call for Ensure SAU REPLACE] [equity, social justice and social protection mechanisms-Take steps HS REPLACE] [as well as the elimination of the root causes of discrimination and stigma in health-care settings] to [ensure IDN DELETE, facilitate USA REPLACE] universal and equitable access to [timely and MEX ADD] quality health [and social EU ADD] [-care IRN ADD] services without financial hardship for all people during a pandemic CANZ ADD], particularly for those [who are vulnerable or UKR, CANZ, MEX, HS DELETE] in vulnerable situations, [as well as the elimination of the root causes of discrimination and stigma in health-care settings [including during pandemics USA ADD] while noting the fundamental importance of equity, social justice and social protection mechanisms [as well as the elimination [and reworking CANZ ADD] of [systems and practices in place causing CANZ] the root causes of discrimination and stigma in health [-care CANZ DELETE] settings SYR MOVED TO THE FRONT OF THE PARA] [including Indigenous People, PER ADD] [as well as the elimination and address HS REPLACE] of the root causes of [inequalities, EU ADD] [inequity, CRI ADD] discrimination [and PAK DELETE] stigma [and exclusion PAK ADD] in [social services and EU ADD] health-care settings; (Based on A/RES/74/2, OP14)~~

OP3bis. Call upon the international community to mobilize all necessary means to support Africa’s efforts to prevent, prepare for and respond to outbreaks and epidemics that account for over 100 major public health emergencies events annually; [AG ADD]

OP3bis. Express solidarity with all people affected by the corona virus disease (COVID-19) pandemic, express deep concern over its continuous socioeconomic impact on families and the roles within families affected by the loss of family members and caregivers, increased poverty, malnutrition, unemployment and unpaid care work, the disruption of education, recognize that families play a role in caring for their members, which constitutes for an additional challenge for families play a role in caring for their members, which constitutes an additional challenge for families, and reaffirming the responsibility of states in protecting families from the negative effects of the pandemic; (Based on A/RES/77/191; pp6) [SAU ADD]

OP4. Address the particular needs [and vulnerabilities PAK, CANZ, MEX DELETE] [vulnerable situations MEX] of [women, MEX ADD] children, youth, persons with disabilities, people living with [illnesses, such as Tuberculosis and DOM ADD] HIV[/AIDS GBR DELETE] [and/or Tuberculosis USA ADD], [people affected by TB MEX ADD] [as well as non-communicable diseases CRM ADD] [tuberculosis ARG ADD] older persons, [persons with chronic diseases, BGD ADD] [migrants IRN DELETE], [affected by war and armed conflicts UKR ADD] refugees, internally displaced persons and [People of African Descent CRM ADD] [Indigenous Peoples PER, CANZ, MEX CHANGE], [and other disproportionately impacted population groups CANZ ADD] [and people in vulnerable situations CRM ADD] [and other vulnerable groups USA ADD] which [needs HS ADD] may include assistance, health [care services CANZ REPLACE] [mental health and psychosocial support MEX ADD] [and psychological and MEX DELETE] other counselling services IDN DELETE], [without any discrimination and with informed consent, BGD ADD] in accordance with relevant international commitments, as applicable, and in line with national [laws IRN ADD] contexts and priorities [and work toward the elimination of the root causes of discrimination and stigma in health care settings USA ADD]; (Based on A/RES/74/2, OP71 and A/RES/76/257, OP5)

OP4bis. Commit to integrate lessons learned from the pandemic with regard to older persons in order to combat ageism, protect the human rights of older persons and strengthen existing policies and laws to address all forms of discrimination in all areas of their life, as well as to take concrete measures that integrate age- and gender-responsive preparedness plans into relevant policy areas at the national and international levels and ensure that older persons and their representatives are consulted in planning and decision-making processes that affect them, on an equal basis with others, in order to address their specific needs; (Based on para 44 from Resolution 76/138) [SLV ADD]

OP4bis. Commit to provide health services and care of the same quality to all people without discrimination and on the basis of free and informed consent and respecting the human rights, dignity, autonomy, legal capacity and needs of all persons without

distinction, including through training and the promulgation of ethical standards for public and private health care; [CRI ADD]

OP5pre. Call for the development and strengthening of timely and quality provision and continuity of comprehensive and integrated mental health services and psychosocial support, as part of a broader whole-of-government and whole-of-society approach, including scaling up of measures to promote and improve mental health as an essential component of universal health coverage, including by addressing the determinants that influence mental health, brain health, substance use and suicide and by developing comprehensive, age-appropriate, multisectoral and integrated person-centred care and services for the prevention and treatment of mental disorders and other mental health conditions, neurological and substance use disorders, as well as co-morbidities between physical and mental health conditions, while fully respecting human rights, noting that these must also be an integral part of all climate, pandemic and emergency preparedness, response and recovery plans; (Based on A/RES/74/2 Paragraph 36) [EU ADD]

OP5. [Recognize the significant role of health workers in responding to pandemics, and recognizing their dedication and sacrifice and encourage regional and international efforts to commemorate this role. SAU ADD] [Seek to ensure USA ADD][Ensure that Support efforts to address SAU REPLACE][that [physical and JPN ADD] mental health and the IDN REPLACE] well-being of health workers [and other essential workers AG ADD] are [addressed supported GBR REPLACE], especially for [women those PAK, CRM REPLACE] [at the forefront and those who are working on the frontline CANZ REPLACE] [women at the forefront frontline health workers HS REPLACE] [accounting for 67% of the global health and social care workforce GBR ADD] who manage heavy workloads during pandemics [especially for women, SAU PLACEMENT] [and health emergencies IDN ADD], including patient surges, [underpaid and USA ADD] [unpaid care, domestic support HS DELETE] and long working hours [during pandemics and health emergencies IDN DELETE]; (New language)

OP6. [Also [endeavor to USA ADD] ensure that health workers, including community [and front-line UKR ADD] health workers, are appropriately compensated and Support the provision of appropriate renumeration, resources and training to health professionals, especially those cadres typically under-represented in the health workforce, such as epidemiologists and mental health professionals, and strengthen, in particular, the role of the local health workforce, and the development of effective and high-preforming national, subnational and regional emergency medical teams, as appropriate, in line with WHO classifications and minimum standards; and ensure that they EU REPLACE], [are granted have HS REPLACE] safe and decent [working HS ADD] conditions with adequate protections including [prioritized access to vaccines and personal protective equipment, and AG ADD] [timely access to personal protective equipment PER ADD] gender [responsive sensitive PAK, IDN, AG, SYR REPLACE] workplace policies that ensure equal pay[ment JPN ADD] for [equal work

or (Source ILO Convention 100) **BRA DELETE**] work of equal value **[fit-for-purpose pandemic products COL ADD]** and protect health workers, particularly women, from **[violence and harassment including CRM ADD] [harassment, USA ADD] [physical and mental violence, verbal and EU ADD]** sexual harassment, exploitation and abuse; (New language) **[RUS CHN DELETE] [IRN RESERVE]**

OP7. **[[Calls upon all States and parties in complex humanitarian emergencies, in particular in armed conflict and in post-conflict situations CHN ADD], consistent with international humanitarian law, to AG ADD] [Seek to eEnsure USA ADD]** further the safe, timely and unhindered access of humanitarian personnel and medical personnel responding to pandemics **[and other health emergencies AG ADD]**, as well as their means of transport, supplies and equipment, and to support, facilitate and enable transportation and logistical supply lines, in order to allow such personnel to efficiently and safely perform their task of assisting affected populations **[in situations of natural disasters, conflicts and foreign occupation PAK ADD]** [, and in this regard also reaffirm the need to take the measures necessary to respect and protect such personnel, hospitals and other medical facilities, as well as their means of transport, supplies and equipment, and urges all parties to armed conflicts, consistent with international humanitarian law, to protect civilian infrastructure which is critical to the delivery of humanitarian assistance for the provision of essential service GBR ADD]; (Based on A/RES/77/31, OP6)

OP8. In accordance with international humanitarian law, **[and with due recognition for UNSC resolution 2286 against violence and destruction of health facilities EU ADD]** respect and protect, in situations of armed conflict, **[and foreign occupation PAK ADD]** medical personnel and humanitarian personnel exclusively engaged in medical duties **[during a pandemic CANZ ADD]**, their means of transport and equipment, and hospitals and other medical facilities, which must not be **[unlawfully EU DELETE]** attacked, and **[endeavor to USA ADD]** ensure that the wounded and sick receive, to the fullest extent practicable and with the least possible delay, the medical care and attention required; (A/RES/74/2, verbatim OP75) **[IND DELETE]**

Op8alt. Ensure the safe, timely and unhindered access of humanitarian personnel and medical personnel responding to pandemics, as well as their means of transport, supplies and equipment, and to support, facilitate and enable transportation and logistical supply lines, in order to allow such personnel to efficiently and safely perform their task of assisting affected populations, and, in accordance with international humanitarian law, respect and protect, in situations of armed conflict, medical personnel and humanitarian personnel exclusively engaged in medical duties, their means of transport and equipment, and hospitals and other medical facilities, which must not be unlawfully attacked, and ensure that the wounded and sick receive, to the fullest extent practicable and with the least possible delay, the medical care and attention required; [THA proposal to merge OP7 and OP8]

OP8bis. Commit to protect human rights, as part of pandemic prevention, preparedness and response, with a particularly focus on the rights of persons in vulnerable situations; (Based on UN Policy Brief: COVID-19 and Human Rights: We are all in this together) [CANZ ADD]

OP8bis. Commit to ensuring that all human rights are respected, protected and fulfilled while combating pandemics and that responses to pandemics respect and are in full compliance with Member States' obligations under international law, including international humanitarian law and international human rights law, while emphasizing that all human rights are universal, indivisible, interrelated, interdependent and mutually reinforcing; (Based on A/Res/74/307, pp5 and op5) [USA ADD]

OP9. [Commit to strengthen[ing CANZ ADD] [all USA ADD]women's [full, effective and meaningful USA ADD]leadership [in CANZ DELETE][and ensure the full, equal and meaningful participation of women and girls in CANZ ADD] [reach gender parity in strengthen women's leadership and in-BGD REPLACE]decision-making processes [in health emergencies at all levels CRM ADD] [at all levels of government PER ADD] [in the sector of health and care JPN ADD] [related to pandemic prevention, preparedness and response HS ADD], [to mainstream [a CANZ DELETE]gender [perspective CANZ DELETE] [and gender responsive MEX ADD] into all [health security and health systems strengthening related GBR ADD] [pandemic prevention, preparedness and response CANZ ADD] policies and programmes, including in budgetary responses HS DELETE] Take action to engage and involve women in all stages of preparedness processes, including in decision-making, and to mainstream a gender perspectives in preparedness planning and emergency response From WHA73.8 Resolution on Strengthening preparedness for health emergencies: implementation of the International Health Regulations (2005) EU ADD] [, and to ensure the participation, when appropriate, of women's organization in all stages of the pandemic response, as well as in recovery processes CANZ ADD] [and unhindered access to vaccines, medicines, diagnostics and health technologies CRM ADD]; (Based on A/RES/75/157, OP2) [RUS DELETE]

OP9bis. Provide better opportunities and decent work for women to ensure their role and leadership in the health sector, with a view to increase the meaningful representation, engagement, participation and empowerment of all women in the workforce at all levels, and take measures towards fair employment practices and to eliminate gender biases and address inequalities, including the gender pay gap, by appropriately remunerating unpaid and underpaid health and care workers, including community health workers; (Based on A/RES/74/2 para63 + Technical Brief on Health and Care Workers) [URY ADD]

OP9bis. Mainstream gender on a systems-wide basis when designing, implementing and monitoring health policies related to pandemic prevention, preparedness and response, taking into account the specific needs of all women and girls, with a view to achieving gender equality and the empowerment of women in health policies and health systems delivery; (Based on A/RES/74/2, Para 69) [CANZ ADD]

OP9bis. Further strengthen efforts to address non-communicable diseases as part of pandemic prevention, preparedness and response, recognizing that people living with non-communicable diseases are at a higher risk of developing severe COVID-19 symptoms and are among the most impacted by the pandemic; (Based on A/RES/74/306, OP9) Comprehensive and coordinated response to the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic) [CRM ADD]

OP10. Call upon Member States to take all measures necessary to **[ensure progressively realize USA REPLACE]** the right of **[all GBR ADD]** **[women and girls in all their diversity USA ADD]** **women, young women and girls, in all their diversity MEX REPLACE]** to the enjoyment of the highest attainable standard of **[physical and mental USA ADD]** health, including sexual and reproductive health **[in line with national laws and policies SYR ADD]**, **[[[and [reproductive GBR, EU DELETE]** rights in line with national laws and policies, and PAK REPLACE]], also during pandemics and health emergencies EU ADD] **[in line with national laws and policies BLR ADD]**, [in accordance with the Programme of Action of the International Conference on Population and Development, the Beijing Platform for Action and the outcome documents of their review conferences GTM DELETE] USA DELETE] **[adopted by the General Assembly PAK, SAU ADD]**, and to develop sustainable health systems and social services, with a view to ensuring universal access to such systems and services without discrimination SYR DELETE]; (A/RES/75/157, Verbatim OP8) **[IRN, HS DELETE]**

OP10bis. Encourages governments to adopt proven strategies to promote the necessary knowledge and life skills for the adoption of healthy life habits for all; to promote values of gender equality, non-discrimination and healthy relationships; and to provide comprehensive sexuality education that is rights-based, age appropriate and consistent with their evolving capacities, and which assures that young people are cognizant of their right to bodily integrity; [USA ADD]

OP11. **[Promote Articulate joint and concerted global action to ensure sufficient supply and CRI REPLACE]** equitable **[and timely PER ADD]** distribution of **[and increased unhindered CRI REPLACE]** access to **[quality, safe, effective, quality-assured and JPB REPLACE]** affordable **[, acceptable HS ADD]** and **[essential THA DELETE]** **[pandemic related CHN ADD]** medicines, including generics, vaccines, diagnostics and **[other HS ADD]** health technologies, **[including by preventing undue export controls or national contracting strategies that undermine joint and concerted global action PAK ADD (WHA/73/1 and A/RES/76/175, OP17 and A/RES/77/151, PP11 and**

A/HRC/50/51, OP29)] [needed for pandemic prevention, preparedness and response THA ADD] [building on lessons learned from COVID-19 joint procurement and dose donation initiatives GBR ADD] [including by preventing undue export controls or national contracting strategies that undermine joint and concerted global action BGD ADD] to [encourage the timely delivery of GBR ADD] [ensure GBR DELETE] affordable quality health [services and their timely delivery GBR DELETE] [-care IRN ADD] [made available at the same time to all countries, especially in developing countries PAK ADD] [to all countries and populations CRI ADD] [made to all countries around the same time BGD ADD]; (A/RES/74/2, Verbatim OP49)

OP11bis. Provide greater access to essential health services, products and vaccines, while also fostering awareness about the risks of substandard and falsified medical products, and assuring the quality and safety of services, products and practice of health workers as well as financial risk protection; (Based on para 57 UHC – PD) [AG ADD]

OP11bis. Support a sustainable, and accountable multi-stakeholder coordination mechanism for medical countermeasures with limited operational coordination capacity in inter-pandemic periods that can be rapidly scaled for pandemic emergencies, guided by principles of equity, inclusivity, and quality and promoting country led decision making, led by the World Health Organization to leverage existing expertise and complement the global health architecture; (New language, Based on WHA A76/10, Strengthening WHO preparedness for and response to health emergencies: Strengthening the global architecture for health emergency) [BGD ADD]

OP12. [Promote increased] Increase IDN REPLACE; Noting the need for appropriate incentives in the development of new health products, promoting CANZ REPLACE] access to affordable, safe, effective [acceptable HS ADD] and quality [medicines, including generics, vaccines, diagnostics and [other HS ADD] health [technologies pandemic-related products, including vaccines KOR REPLACE] [during pandemics GBR ADD] [and products EU ADD], reaffirming the World Trade Organization [(WTO) CANZ ADD] Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS Agreement) as amended, and also reaffirming the 2001 World Trade Organization Doha Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, which recognizes that [intellectual property rights the TRIPS Agreement CANZ, EU REPLACE] should be interpreted and implemented in a manner supportive of the right of Member States to protect public health and, in particular, to promote access to medicines for all, [and noting IND REPLACE] [and notes the need for appropriate incentives in the development of new health products USA DELETE] ARG, CANZ DELETE] [and in line with the principle of equity IDN ADD] [and commits to work towards an outcome on the extension of the TRIPS MC12 decision to therapeutics and diagnostics IND ADD]; (A/RES/74/2, Verbatim OP51) [GTM RESERVE]

OP13. Reaffirm [the WTO Doha Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, which affirms CANZ ADD] the right [of WTO Members CANZ ADD] to use, to the fullest extent, the provisions contained in the [World Trade Organization Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights CANZ DELETE] (TRIPS Agreement), which provides flexibilities for the [protection of purpose of protecting CANZ REPLACE] public health and [promotes promoting CANZ REPLACE] access to medicines for all, in particular for [developing low and middle income EU REPLACE] countries, and [the World Trade Organization Doha Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health, which CANZ DELETE] recognizes that intellectual property protection is important for the development of new medicines and also recognizes the concerns about its effects on prices, [while-[CANZ DELETE] and GBR REPLACE] [expressing concern for the use of TRIPS plus provision in regional bilateral Free Trade Agreement and DOM ADD] [noting note CANZ REPLACE] the discussions in the World Trade Organization and other relevant international organizations, including on innovative options to enhance the global effort towards the production and timely and equitable distribution of [COVID-19 IDN DELETE] vaccines, therapeutics, diagnostics and other health technologies, including through local production; (A/RES/76/257, Verbatim PP20) [USA DELETE] [GTM RESERVE]

OP13bis. Address the need for removing trade barriers, strengthening global and regional supply chains, and facilitating the movement of medical and public health goods, especially during pandemics and health emergencies among and within countries, including through appropriate waivers; [BGD ADD]

SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT [BGD ADD NEW SUBSECTION]

OP14. Explore, encourage and [promote support EU REPLACE] a range of innovative incentives [and financing mechanisms EU DELETE] for health research and development [related to pandemics CANZ ADD] [with a view to supporting timely, affordable and equitable product supply PAK, VNM ADD] [of new health products and technologies, including applied research in areas such as case management, behavioral sciences, technology platforms, and innovative financing USA ADD] [globally EU ADD] [with a view to supporting timely, affordable and equitable product supply CRI ADD] [with a view to supporting timely, affordable and equitable product supply BGD ADD], including a stronger and transparent partnership between the public and the private sectors as well as academia, [civil society and science-community, CRI ADD] acknowledging the important role played by the private sector in research and development of innovative [vaccines and PAK, VNM ADD] medicines, [diagnostics, and vaccine platforms USA ADD] [and technologies EU ADD] while recognizing [the critical role of public finance and CRI ADD] the need for increasing public health-driven [and science based EU ADD] research and development

that is needs-driven and evidence-based, guided by the core principles of [transparency AG ADD] safety, affordability, effectiveness, efficiency[, and IDN REPLACE] [, acceptability HS ADD] equity [sustainability CANZ ADD] [and considered as a shared responsibility, as well as [innovative incentives and financing to promote market sustainable equitable access to and appropriate use of vaccines, therapeutics, diagnostics and other health technologies USA ADD] [appropriate [accountability measures and PAK ADD] [voluntary initiatives and CANZ ADD] [incentives CANZ DELETE] [mechanisms CANZ ADD] in the development of new health products and technologies USA DELETE] IDN DELETE] [including new antimicrobials, all with a reduced environmental print allowing for faster, less demanding and more economic delivery chains EU ADD]; (Based on A/RES/74/2, OP52 and OP53) [GBR RESERVE]

OP14bis. Reiterate the urgent need to foster innovation and to strengthen research and development of safe, effective, quality-assured and affordable medical countermeasures (MCMs). Commit to enhancing equitable access to MCM, including by ensuring that products are developed and distributed with an equity lens, with the end user in mind, and with characteristics, including affordability, acceptability, and ease of administration that facilitate their uptake and delivery; (Based on the 2023 G7 Hiroshima Communique) [BGD ADD]

OP15. [Calls upon Member States to [pPromote USA DELETE] CHN ADD][Encourage licensing and USA ADD] [voluntary EU ADD] the transfer of technology and know-how [on voluntary and mutually agreed terms, GBR, USA ADD] [under mutually agreed conditions EU ADD] [co-development of technology, BRA ADD] [and, encourage research, innovation [and commitments to [voluntary CRI DELETE] [licensing sharing CRI REPLACE] USA DELETE], [where possible IND DELETE], in agreements where public funding has been invested IDN DELETE] in research and development for pandemic prevention, preparedness and response [to support national and regional institutions and EU ADD], to strengthen [national, USA ADD] local [, national PAK ADD] and regional capacities for the manufacturing, regulation and procurement of needed tools for equitable and effective access to vaccines, therapeutics, diagnostics and essential supplies, [as well as for clinical trials CHN DELETE] [, and to increase global supply through facilitating [voluntary EU ADD] transfer of technology [on voluntary and mutually agreed terms USA ADD] [within the framework of relevant multilateral agreements CHN DELETE] IDN DELETE]; (A/RES/76/257, Verbatim OP11)

OP15bis. With a view to promoting greater sharing of knowledge and transparency, and facilitating equitable access to pandemic-related medical products, public funding for research and development for pandemic prevention, preparedness, response and recovery of health systems shall adopt affordable and economically sustainable pricing policies to achieve a cost of goods for the product that will enable a price that is affordable for LMICs and LDCs; [BGD ADD]

OP16. ~~[Address the need for Commit to AG REPLACE]~~ ~~[the removingal of AG CHANGE]~~ ~~[unnecessary USA ADD]~~ trade barriers, strengthening ~~[global and regional AG, PAK, VNM CRI ADD]~~ supply chains, ~~[diversification of manufacturing capacities across regions AG ADD]~~ and facilitating the movement of medical and public health goods, especially during pandemics and ~~[or other CANZ ADD]~~ health emergencies among and within countries ~~[in particular developing countries PAK ADD]~~ [, including through ~~[appropriate BRA DELETE]~~ waivers ~~[UK, SGP, KOR, CANZ USA, EU, JPN DELETE]~~ [, and refraining from promulgating and applying any uniltateral economic, financial or trade measures not in accordance with international law and the Charter of the United Nations that impede pandemic prevention, preparedness and response, particularly in developing countries BLR ADD (Based on OP30 of A/RES/70/1)] ~~[CHE, BGD DELETE]~~; (New language)

OP16alt. Recognize, to the extent provided by WTO rules, the importance of ensuring that any emergency trade measures designed to tackle pandemics, if deemed necessary, are targeted, proportionate, transparent, temporary, and do not create unnecessary barriers to trade or unnecessary disruptions in supply chains (Ministerial Declaration on the WTO Response to the COVID-19 Pandemic and Preparedness for future Pandemics June 2022); ~~[CHE ADD]~~

OP16bis. Urges States to refrain from promulgating and applying any unilateral economic, financial or trade measures not in accordance with international law and the Charter of the United Nations, that impede the full achievement of economic and social development, including the national policies and programs on pandemic prevention, preparedness and response, particularly in developing countries; (Based on OP30, A/RES/70/1) ~~[VEN ADD]~~

OP16bis. Strongly urging States to refrain from promulgating and applying any unilateral economic, financial or trade measures not in accordance with international law and the United Nations Charter that impede the efficient response, specifically the acquisition of medical equipment and supplies to adequately treat populations in the face of a pandemic, particularly in developing countries; ~~[RUS ADD]~~

OP16bis. Recognize the importance of refraining from promulgating and applying any unilateral economic, financial or trade measures not in accordance with international law and the Charter of the United Nations that impede Pandemic Prevention, Preparedness and Response, particularly in developing countries; (Based on A/RES/70/1 Paragraph 30) ~~[SYR ADD]~~

OP16bis. Affirm the right of developing countries to produce vaccines locally, therapeutics diagnostics and other technologies by removing all barriers related to intellectual property; ~~[AG ADD]~~

OP16ter. Ensure affordable access to medical countermeasures in sufficient quantities, particularly in developing countries which should be supported through transfer of technology and know-how and sharing of intellectual property to create self-sufficient manufacturing globally; [AG ADD]

OP17. [Call to IDN DELETE] [improve strive for EU REPLACE] [sustainable, equitable, effective, efficient and JPM ADD] timely [and equitable JPN DELETE] access to [quality JPN DELETE], safe, effective [quality-assured JPN ADD] [, acceptable HS ADD] and affordable [pandemic emergency response-related products, including USA ADD] vaccines, therapeutics, diagnostics and other health technologies, [in developing countries especially [low- and middle-income developing] countries, IDN ADD] inter alia, [through the establishment of an end-to-end medical countermeasures platform focusing on the relevant functions, ensuring coordination among all relevant stakeholders especially on the development, production, procurement, allocation and delivery of these tools in the event of a pandemic threat, EU ADD] through [financial and technical support,; AG ADD] building capacity for [national, USA ADD] local [, national PAK ADD] and regional production, [especially in [low- and middle-income developing CRM, CHN, BRA, GTM REPLACE] countries IDN, DELETE], [as well as those moving to a higher income per capita income URY ADD] [voluntary USA ADD] technology transfer [on [voluntary and USA ADD] mutually agreed [terms and voluntary basis JPN REPLACE] AG, URY, PAK, IDN, BRA DELETE] [and in line with international obligations ARG ADD], cooperation with, support to and the development of [voluntary patent pools and other CHE DELETE] voluntary initiatives, such as [the World Health Organization COVID-19 Technology Access Pool EU DELETE] [the World Health Organization Global Strategy and Plan of Action on Public Health, Innovation and Intellectual Property (GSPOA), and BRA ADD] the Medicines Patent Pool, and [, through leveraging innovation, such as investment of Unitaid to make quality health products available and affordable in developing countries, BRA ADD] promoting generic competition in line with the World Health Organization road map for access to medicines, vaccines and other health products, 2019–2023; (A/RES/76/257, Verbatim PP21)

OP17bis. Improve availability, affordability and timely access to health products during health emergencies and pandemics by increasing transparency in clinical trial results, production cost, price, sales revenue, units sold and terms and conditions in government contracts in pandemic-related products and technologies; (A/74/2. WHA 72.8) [BRA ADD]

OP17bis. Commit to strengthen enabling policy environments at all levels, legal and regulatory frameworks conducive to increased investment and innovation, public-private partnerships, low-cost technology, universal access strategies and international cooperation to improve affordability, capacity-building, financing, investment and technology transfer; (Based on CSW67 para 86(e)) [AG ADD]

OP17bis. Prioritise strengthening end-to-end capabilities during non-pandemic periods including research and development, manufacturing, regulatory and legal framework, procurement, distribution, and delivery of pandemic products, with a view to creating a preparedness ecosystem that is resilient, agile, and adaptable for reaching populations worldwide, particularly hard to reach communities; (Based on S/RES/2565, OP1) [CRI ADD]

OP17bis. Recognize that equitable access to diagnostic testing and surveillance is integral to early warning systems for threats of epidemic and pandemic potential and call for continued investment in and development of diagnostics tools, infrastructure and capacity at national, regional, and global levels, including R&D, clinical trial networks, local manufacturing, and genomic surveillance, particularly in at the primary health care level in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) and ensure maintenance of this capacity for future pandemics, with complementary development of coordinated information and data sharing systems to adequately ensure early identification of and rapid response to current and future outbreaks. (Based on Resolution on Strengthening Diagnostics Capacity during WHA 2023) [BGD ADD]

OP17ter. Commit to take the necessary steps to support transparency, dissemination and enhanced availability of, and access to information on registered health products, such as reports on sales revenues, prices, units sold, marketing costs, and subsidies and incentives; (Based on WHA72.8 OP 1(2 and 3)) [AG ADD]

OP17quat. Strongly urges States to refrain from promulgating and applying any unilateral economic, financial or trade measures that impede on the full achievement of sustainable economic and social development, particularly in developing countries and calls for greater cooperation by lifting Unilateral Coercive Measures especially during health emergencies [AG ADD]

GLOBAL GOVERNANCE

OP18pre. Establish objective, evidence-based and multisectoral accountability mechanisms, based on independent monitoring of states' progress towards their obligations under the IHR, pandemic accord and any future legally-binding instruments, to ensure ongoing vigilance and action on pandemic threats at the highest political level; [CRI ADD]

OP18 [Stresses the importance of international cooperation, multilateralism and solidarity in the global response to support the recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic, welcomes the international efforts performed in this regard, and calls to SAU ADD] Strengthen [regional and SAU ADD] [and promote PER ADD] international [multisectoral USA ADD] [leadership EU ADD] collaboration [and IRN, JPN DELETE] coordination [and cooperation IRN ADD] [and governance JPN ADD]

[under the leadership of WHO MEX ADD] [for enhanced IDN ADD] [for pandemic prevention, preparedness and response VNM DELETE] [all levels, including UKR ADD] [at up to EU REPLACE] the highest political level [on an intergovernmental and inter-agency basis EU ADD] [using a gender perspective MEX ADD] [including the leader-level, ensuring legitimacy, representation, equity, and effectiveness, as well as including through close collaboration between finance and health authorities JPN ADD] [by establishing objective, evidence-based and multisectoral accountability mechanisms, based on obligations under the IHR, pandemic accord and any future legally-binding instruments BGD ADD] to [to ensure high-level attention and multi-sectoral approaches, reduce inequities, and strengthen international, regional, national, and local capacities, in alignment with the ongoing discussions of the Intergovernmental Negotiating Body CANZ ADD] [accelerate efforts [to ensure national, regional and international, ~~national, regional and local~~ readiness CARICOM REPLACE] [in the event of for CARICOM] CANZ DELETE] [prevent, prepare for and respond to future pandemic and health emergencies at VNM ADD] [ensure VNM DELETE] international, national, regional and local [readiness HS DELETE], particularly in developing countries IDN ADD] [level VNM ADD] [readiness for [and build resilience against THA ADD] future [pandemics [threats EU ADD] and ARG DELETE] health emergencies VNM DELETE] [, including pandemics; ARG] [while recognizing the importance of pandemic prevention, preparedness and response as a key component of universal health coverage and its contribution towards the achievement of the Sustainable Development Goals, among others AG ADD] [while ensuring full coherence with the WHO negotiations on a convention, agreement or other international instrument on pandemic prevention, preparedness and response, as well as on targeted amendments to the International Health Regulations (2005), stressing the importance of heads of state and government to meet as part of the pandemic agreement to provide support to all the health and health-related measures necessary to tackle emergencies EU ADD]; (New language) [CHE DELETE]

OP19. [Commit to promote the full Leverage the HS REPLACE] potential of the multilateral system and call upon the relevant entities of the United Nations [development CANZ, EU DELETE] system, within their respective mandates, [and through coordinated actions MEX ADD] primarily the World Health Organization, as the [directing leading JPN REPLACE, leading normative EU REPLACE] and coordinating authority on international health work in accordance with its Constitution, [as well as the reinvigorated resident coordinators and the United Nations country teams, within their respective mandates CANZ DELETE], as well as other relevant global [development [, humanitarian CHE, COL ADD] [and regional EU ADD] and health CANZ DELETE] actors, [including the international financial institutions and development banks GBR ADD] including [global health initiatives VNM ADD] [international and regional organizations USA ADD] civil society [government research institutions, USA ADD] [and communities CANZ ADD], the private sector and academia, to assist and support countries [, upon request CHN ADD] in their efforts to [achieve strengthen

and fully ensure EU REPLACE] pandemic prevention, preparedness and response at the national [and subnational levels, USA ADD] [, upon request, based on the needs identified by requesting countries and IRN ADD] in accordance with their respective national contexts, priorities and competences; (Based on A/RES/74/2, OP80 and A/RES/69/132, PP26) [IDN DELETE]

OP19bis. Calls upon the entities of the United Nations system, as well as United Nations country teams, within their respective mandates, to mainstream pandemic prevention, preparedness and response and recovery of health systems into national plans, including by promoting a multi-sectoral approach, and requests in this regard the Resident Coordinators and United Nations country teams in consultation with other relevant actors to contribute their expertise, tools and platforms in line with their respective mandates strategic plans and as agreed in the Cooperation Frameworks or equivalent planning framework; (Based on A/RES/75/233) [CANZ ADD]

OP19ter. Also calls upon the entities of the United Nations system to analyse lessons learned from the response to the COVID-19 pandemic at the national, regional and global levels and to identify gaps and challenges in order to better prepare and provide assistance for possible future pandemics; (Based on A/RES/75/233, OP 27(d)) [CANZ ADD]

OP19alt. Commit to assist and support countries in their efforts to achieve pandemic prevention, preparedness and response, in accordance to their respective national context and priorities, through the support of relevant entities of UN Development System including World Health Organization, reinvigorated resident coordinator system and the United Nations Country Teams, with their respective mandates and competences; [IDN ADD]

OP19alt. Leverage the full potential of the multilateral system, in collaboration with Member States upon their request, and call upon the relevant entities of the United Nations development system, within their respective mandates, primarily the World Health Organization as the leading agency on health, as well as the reinvigorated resident coordinators and the United Nations country teams, within their respective mandates, as well as other relevant global development and health actors, including civil society, faith-based organizations, the private sector and academia, to assist and support countries in their efforts to pandemic prevention, preparedness and response in accordance with their respective national contexts, priorities and competences; (Based on A/Res/74/2 para 80) [HS ADD]

OP20. [Call for [the integration of EU DELETE] Ensure CRM REPLACE] a multisectoral [, multidisciplinary USA ADD] [and One Health GBR ADD] [comprehensive, evidence-based and gender-sensitive UKR ADD] [whole of government and One Health EU ADD] approach [that is free from any form of discrimination PER ADD]

towards pandemic prevention, preparedness and response, [engaging all parts of the multilateral system, given the multipronged nature of effective prevention and preparedness measures and the multifaceted drivers and consequences of pandemics, and to safeguard human health, detect and prevent health threats at the human-animal-environment interface, in particular zoonotic spill-over, mutations and antimicrobial agents, and call for better dialogue between the United Nations and the World Health Organisation, following a One UN approach EU ADD] [given the multifaceted [drivers and CANZ ADD] [causes and AG, USA ADD] [consequences nature GBR REPLACE] of pandemics EU DELETE] [including their potential impact on social protection, education, agriculture, the environment, trade, travel, tourism, development and other sectors and at all levels CRM ADD]; (Based on A/RES/77/275, OP2) [IRN RESERVE] [HS DELETE]

OP21. [Commit to a [fully-supported operational and strong EU REPLACE] sustainably financed CANZ REPLACE] [support the USA ADD] World Health Organization [, consistent with its thirteenth Global Programme of Work USA ADD] [with the authority, [independence IND DELETE] and [funding resourcing CANZ REPLACE] required USA Delete] [in its mandate USA ADD] [within its mandate CHN] to [effectively fulfill its responsibilities and EU ADD] [for the purpose of IRN ADD] support[ing IRN ADD] countries to [be able to adequately prevent, prepare for and respond AG ADD] [prevent prepare, minimize and respond to the risks of MEX ADD] [strengrhen their health systems and IRN ADD] [prevent pathogen spillover CRI ADD] minimize the risks of health emergencies and [minimize their risks AG ADD] [including infectious disease outbreaks, epidemics and pandemics; GBR ADD] and to mitigate their [consequences impact EU REPLACE] [on health ARG ADD] and SGP DELETE] [rRecognize SGP REPLACE, acknowledge EU REPLACE] the [leadership and USA DELETE] [centrality role USA ADD, substantial normative and coordinate role EU REPLACE]] of the World Health Organization ~~for global health~~ matters as the directing and coordinating authority on international USA REPLACE] [and health emergency preparedness and response SGP ADD] [including on pandemic prevention, preparedness and response EU ADD] [[within the broader United Nations [response BRA DELETE] USA DELETE] [and call on WHO to effectively integrate efforts across the organization in support of PPPR USA ADD] RUS DELETE] [while acknowledging the need to involve all relevant health actors with their capacities and comparative strengths EU ADD]; (New language) [HS DELETE]

OP21bis. Recognize the interconnectedness of UHC, TB, antimicrobial resistance (AMR) and PPPR, acknowledge the high-level meetings on UHC (2023) and TB (2023) and AMR (2024) as critical opportunities to promote integration of efforts to promote synergies and reduce redundancies; [USA ADD]

OP21bis. Commit to preventing, preparing for and responding to pandemics, including the growing challenge of antimicrobial resistance, through an integrated One Health approach that is rooted in achieving equity in health and enabled through increased cooperation, building and encouraging diverse stakeholder engagement, as well as technical and financial assistance on the national, regional and international level to generate evidence on implementation gaps and translate science and policy outputs into impact on the ground; (new language + building on WHA72.5 (2019) resolution and A/71/L.2) [EU ADD]

LEADERSHIP AND ACCOUNTABILITY

OP22pre. Calls upon Member States and other relevant stakeholders to address the social and economic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, to get back on track to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals by designing recovery strategies out of the crisis to accelerate progress towards the full implementation of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, as well as helping to reduce the risk of future shocks, and to enhance international cooperation that accelerate the realization of the 2030 Agenda, including through a revitalized Global Partnership for Sustainable Development, and stresses the important role that official development assistance (ODA) plays in complementing the efforts of countries to mobilize public resources domestically, especially in the poorest and most vulnerable countries, and achieve the Sustainable Development Goals, and Global Partnership for Sustainable Development; (Based on A/RES/74/306 OP30, OP33, A/RES/70/1) [CHN ADD]

OP22. Reaffirm the importance of national ownership~~[, priorities and context IDN ADD]~~ **[and regional EU ADD]** and the primary role and responsibility of governments at all levels to ~~[[determine their own paths towards reinforce CHE REPLACE, ensure efficient, effective and comprehensive EU REPLACE]]~~ pandemic prevention, preparedness and response, ~~MEX DELETE~~ in accordance with ~~[international law, UKR ADD]~~ national contexts and priorities, ~~[while remaining consistent with relevant international rules and commitments CANZ ADD]~~ **[and based on the best scientific information available as an infections disease emergency develops, USA ADD]** which is critical for minimizing ~~[public health hazards]~~ all manner of infectious disease threats ~~CANZ REPLACE]~~ and vulnerabilities as well as delivering effective prevention ~~[of USA ADD]~~, ~~[risk assessment CANZ, EU ADD]~~ surveillance ~~[of USA ADD]~~, early warning ~~[of USA ADD]~~, response ~~[to USA ADD]~~, and ~~[resilient CANZ ADD]~~ recovery ~~[from USA ADD]~~, ~~[in USA DELETE]~~ health emergencies; **(Based on A/RES/74/2 OP6 and A/RES/76/257 PP6)**

OP22bis. Recognizing pandemic prevention, preparedness and response as a global common interest, entailing the need for all countries to implement and adhere to commonly defined standards as well as to seek inclusive, impactful international coordination and mutual support for pandemic prevention, preparedness and response duly embedded in the multilateral system, in order to effectively and efficiently protect the world from future pandemics; [EU ADD]

OP23. ~~[[Provide strategic leadership at the [global, regional and EU ADD]-national level for the achievement of pandemic prevention, preparedness and response [including IDN ADD] by HS DELETE]–[as appropriate, IRN ADD]–strengthening Strengthen MEX, HS REPLACE] legislative and regulatory [frameworks-instruments USA REPLACE], [and IDN ADD] [where appropriate, SYR ADD] [promoting HS REPLACE] greater policy coherence [and [ensuring fostering USA REPLACE, ensure HS REPLACE] sustainable [and adequate USA DELETE] financing IDN DELETE] to implement [and evaluate GBR ADD] high-impact policies to protect [all EU ADD] people from pandemics [and [other ARG, CANZ, HS ADD] health emergencies, [and including by HS REPLACE] [comprehensively IRN DELETE]–[address addressing HS REPLACE] taking into account EU REPLACE] [social, economic and environmental IDN DELETE] [and other PAK DELETE] determinants of health [that increase the risk of and people's vulnerability to infectious disease outbreaks, epidemics and pandemics UK ADD] [and the effects of climate change EU ADD] by working across all sectors through a whole-of-government and [whole-of-society approach IDN ADD] [health-in-all-policies approach [,which respect One Health principles CANZ ADD] and by engaging stakeholders in an appropriate, coordinated, comprehensive, integrated, [sustained PER ADD] [gender-sensitive UKR ADD] and whole-of-society action [and HS DELETE] response IDN DELETE]; (Based on A/RES/74/2, OP57 and OP59)~~

OP24. ~~[[Commit to prioritizing pandemic prevention, preparedness and response in national agendas Calls upon Member States to prioritize pandemic prevention, preparedness and response in their national agendas EU REPLACE], [in accordance with rigorous science and USA ADD] [[with full respect for [human dignity and HS ADD] human rights CRM, CHN DELETE] [and developmental needs PAK ADD], [to ensure a whole-of-government and whole-of-society approach, ARG DELETE] IDN DELETE] [and USA ADD] to [make progress toward achieving and integrate efforts to USA ADD] achieve [and sustain JPN ADD] universal health coverage with primary health care as its cornerstone, [and a robust research capacity at its capstone, USA ADD] which is fundamental to realizing the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development, [and efforts USA ADD] to build resilient health systems able to maintain essential public health functions, services and access to these, [to support and protect the health workforce IDN DELETE], [and CRI DELETE] to institute social and economic support that can sustain the widespread uptake of public health measures [, and to ensure particular attention to the needs of people in vulnerable situations, promoting social cohesion, taking the necessary measures to ensure social protection and protection from financial hardship, and preventing insecurity, violence, discrimination, stigmatization and marginalization CR ADD]; (A/RES/76/257, Verbatim OP3)~~

OP25. ~~[[Recognize Ensure CRM REPLACE] that [multi-sectoral CRM ADD] emergency coordination [must be is CRM REPLACE] embedded Take measures to embed emergency coordination HS REPLACE] in strengthened [and sustainable financed~~

EU ADD] national health systems and [linked-link it HS REPLACE] to multiple sectors and systems, [including disaster risk management [COL ADD] systems, THA ADD] [be enacted and support its implementation HS REPLACE] by a well-resourced and protected health emergency workforce [including humanitarian personnel COL ADD] [ensuring that such emergency coordination is HS ADD] underpinned by [nationally relevant PAK, SYR ADD] [appropriate disease surveillance systems, GBR ADD] [disaggregated CANZ, COL ADD] [high-quality, accessible, timely and reliable CRI ADD] [disaggregated data on disability, age and sex, education level and household income data BGD REPLACE], integrated analytics, research and innovation, [be HS DELETE] informed by dynamic assessments and monitoring of threats, vulnerabilities and functional capabilities, and [have has HS REPLACE] strong links to regional and global support, coordination and collaboration structures and mechanisms across all phases of the health emergency cycle of preparing, preventing, detecting, responding and recovering [and that biological hazards require strengthened systematic coordination, coherence and integration between disaster and health risk management systems in the areas of risk assessment, surveillance and early warning CANZ ADD] [recognizing the need for strengthened public health institutes EU ADD]; (WHA A76/10, OP45) [IRN RESERVE]

OP25bis. Commit to scaling-up the application of international and national guidance related to indoor air ventilation, filtration and disinfection through setting ambitious targets and adopting meaningful indicators to improve indoor air quality, particularly in public indoor settings, workplaces, and public spaces to reduce the risk of transmission of pathogens, and improve the resilience of public spaces against the threat of future pandemic pathogen spread; (Based on WHO Guidance on Clean Air) [GBR ADD]

OP26. [Acknowledge the need for Governments AG ADD] [Commit to encourage the THA REPLACE]; to [strengthening systems for AG ADD] [of THA ADD] [objective independent EU REPLACE], evidence-based [independent CANZ, CRI ADD] and multisectoral [at all levels of government PER ADD] monitoring and accountability, [as appropriate, in order to promote AG ADD] [for required to stimulate EU REPLACE] action effective implementation AG REPLACE] and [foster EU ADD] results [to help underpin future required action EU ADD] for pandemic prevention, preparedness and response [drawing on existing tools and initiatives, including those being developed in the context of the International Health Regulations (2005) and Pandemic Instrument Negotiations CANZ ADD] [through national action plans to ensure comprehensive, proportionate, time-bound, age- and disability-sensitive and gender-responsive measures across government sectors, ensuring respect for human rights and fundamental freedoms and paying particular attention to the needs of people in vulnerable situation CRI ADD] [through national action plans to ensure comprehensive, proportionate, time-bound, age- and disability-sensitive and

gender-responsive measures across government sectors BGD ADD]; (New language) [CHE, RUS, SYR, CHN, MEX DELETE] [GBR, IRN RESERVE]

OP26bis. Takes measures to enhance the resilience of national health systems, including by integrating disaster risk management into primary, secondary and tertiary health care, especially at the local level, applying the Bangkok Principles for the implementation of the health aspects of the Sendai Framework, developing the capacity of health workers in understanding disaster risk and applying and implementing disaster risk reduction approaches in health work, promoting and enhancing the training capacities in the field of disaster medicine, and supporting and training community health groups in disaster risk reduction approaches in health programmes, in collaboration with other sectors, as well as in the implementation of the International Health Regulations (2005) of the World Health Organization; Based on Paragraph 30 (i) of the Sendai Framework on Disaster Risk Reduction & Paragraph 33(k) of the Political declaration of the High-Level Midterm Review on the Implementation of the Sendai Framework) [THA ADD]

OP27. [Encourage Commit to AG REPLACE] [fair, equitable and USA DELETE] Recognize the importance of ARG REPLACE] timely sharing [of benefits ARG, USA, JPN, BGD DELETE] [of USA, JPN DELETE] [arising from the development of medical countermeasures based on the sharing of USA ADD] [pathogens with pandemic potential CRI DELETE], [including and USA REPLACE] genomic sequence[s data USA ADD] [and information USA DELETE] [and related human specimens; AG ADD], [through and encourage the sharing of benefits arising from their use, including through USA ADD] [a multilateral system BRA CHANGE PLACEMENT], ARG DELETE] [open science approaches, and the open sharing of pathogen genetic sequence data USA ADD] [and bilateral channels CHN ADD] [that functions most optimally when fully linked to AG ADD] to [and AG DELETE] the [equitable AG ADD] [sharing of benefits arising from their use, including data, knowledge, innovations and tools JPN DELETE] [through a multilateral system BRA PLACEMENT] USA DELETE] [to enable real time, equitable distribution of pandemic-related products, made available at the same time to all countries PAK ADD] [to enable real time, equitable distribution of medical countermeasures BGD ADD] and [This should be done USA ADD] [, to enable equitable distribution of pandemic-related products, made available equitably to all countries and populations CRI ADD] taking into account relevant national and international laws, regulations, obligations and frameworks, [as applicable THA ADD] [including the International Health Regulations [2005] CRM ADD] ARG DELETE], the Convention on Biological Diversity and its Nagoya Protocol on Access to Genetic Resources and the Fair and Equitable Sharing of Benefits Arising from their Utilization, and the Pandemic Influenza Preparedness Framework, and also mindful of the work being undertaken in other relevant areas and by other United Nations and multilateral organizations or agencies, particularly the ongoing [work of discussions within ARG REPLACE] the [International Intergovernmental CHN REPLACE] Negotiating Body and [the ARG ADD] Working Group on Amendments to the

International Health Regulations (2005) in Geneva; (New language) [CHE, MEX, EU
DELETE] [GBR, CANZ, RUS, IRN RESERVE]

OP28. [Reeognize the need Commit to further UK REPLACE] [Promote CANZ ADD] strengthen [relevant THA DELETE] stakeholder [engagement participation AG REPLACE] [in pandemic prevention, preparedness and response THA ADD], [recognizing that the participation and collaboration of diverse actors, not only governments, is essential, and that the contribution of the private sector, for example, in the field of research and development is important in order to promote the transfer of relevant technologies on voluntary and mutually agreed terms, and to support developing countries to improve their R&D and production capacities JPN ADD][ensure ownership and sustainability, [for effective pandemic prevention, preparedness and response EU ADD]while and engagement PAK REPLACE] [while [particularly EU ADD] including those most affected by [pandemics or other CANZ ADD] [and vulnerable to EU ADD] health emergencies AG DELETE], by integrating [civil society and CANZ ADD] [the contributions of local AG ADD] [[relevant stakeholders CRM ADD] including local THA ADD] [and integrate MEX ADD] [relevant stakeholders, including by fostering community, civil society and humanitarian actors participation in national, regional and EU ADD] [communities CRM DELETE] [, civil society, academia and the science-community CRI ADD][and other relevant stakeholders BGD] in [pandemic prevention preparedness and response, in activities ranging from reporting unfamiliar diseases as part of biosurveillance to participating in clinical studies on the safety and efficacy of candidate vaccines, therapeutics and diagnostics to integration in USA ADD] global [regional, national and local CANZ ADD] [health pandemic prevention, preparedness and response CANZ REPLACE] governance processes, IDN DELETE] [reaching from remote communities to national and international bodies USA ADD] [especially from developing countries CRI ADD] [through enhancing EU REPLACE] transparent information-sharing and inclusive processes; (New language) [RUS DELETE] [IRN RESERVE]

OP29. [Resolve Accelerate action AG REPLACE] [Resolve Take steps HS REPLACE] to address the global shortfall of health workers, [including addressing the root causes of shortfall BGD Add] in accordance with the Global Strategy on Human Resources for Health: Workforce 2030 by investing in education, [training EU ADD] employment and retention, [strengthening the institutional capacity for health workforce governance, leadership and planning HS DELETE], [especially in developing countries PAK ADD] [addressing root causes of health worker emigration AG ADD] and protecting all health [and community CANZ ADD] workers [including women UKR, BRA ADD] [particularly women BGD, COL, CANZ ADD] [, in all their diversity CANZ ADD] from all forms of violence, attacks, harassment and discriminatory practices, while recognizing that health [and community CANZ ADD] [and care HS, CRM DELETE] worker safety and patient safety are [inseparably CRM DELETE] connected; (Based on

OP30. **[Call to HS, CRM DELETE]** further strengthen cooperation to train, develop and retain a skilled **[multidisciplinary EU ADD]** health workforce, which is an important element of strong and resilient health systems, as part of health emergency prevention and preparedness strategies, guided by target 3.c of the 2030 Agenda, **[and the WHO Global Code of Practice on the International Recruitment of Health Personnel AG Add]** **[and note[s] with concern that the need to address the negative impact of the migration of ARG REPLACE]** highly trained and skilled health personnel from **[developing low-and middle-income EU REPLACE]** countries **[continue to emigrate at an increasing rate; ARG DELETE]** **[to certain countries CHE, USA DELETE mainly to developed countries AG REPLACE]**, which **[could possibly EU ADD]** **[weaken[s] EU DELETE]** can weaken **GBR REPLACE** health systems in countries of origin, **[while taking into account individual rights of health personnel to leave any country in accordance with applicable laws, and taking into account that nothing in the WHO Code should be interpreted as limiting the freedom of health personnel, in accordance with applicable laws, to migrate to countries that wish to admit and employ them EU ADD]** **[CHN MOVE TO PP SECTION]**; (A/RES/76/257, Verbatim OP6)

OP30bis. Recognize the need to strengthen centres of expertise: laboratories for public health, support research and academic institutions, National Public Health Institutes, like Centres for Disease Control and Prevention or their equivalents and their cross-sector partners, in collectively building public health capacity and capabilities for predictable and rapid response, supporting already established multi-country training hubs, such as regional WHO training hubs; **[EU ADD]**

OP31. Continue to scale up efforts and strengthen cooperation to promote the training, development, recruitment and retention of **[a CANZ ADD]** competent, skilled **[and , CANZ REPLACE]** motivated **[health [and care USA ADD] workers and multidisciplinary health emergency workforce CANZ REPLACE]** **[in developing countries AG ADD]**, including community health workers and mental health professionals, **[and ensure provision of decent and safe working conditions and appropriate remuneration including equal pay and enacting policies to incentivize their presence in rural, hard-to-reach and underserved areas BGD ADD]** guided by target 3.c of the 2030 Agenda; (Based on A/RES/72/4, OP62 and addition to align with target 3.c)

[ARG, HS, CRM, EU DELETE]

OP32. **[Take measures to [increase public health education, literacy and awareness with an aim to CHE ADD] [to counter AG ADD]** address the negative impact of **[infodemics, including USA ADD]** misinformation and disinformation **[especially on social media platforms AG ADD]** on public health measures **[including countering vaccine**

hesitancy MEX ADD] as well as [stigmatization CHN ADD] people's physical and mental health, [by working with partners to address CANZ ADD] and to CRM DELETE] [eCounter mis- and dis-information [and take measures to address their negative impact on public health measures as well as people's physical and mental health CRM ADD] [, and stigmatization CHN ADD], especially on social media platforms AG DELETE] in the context of pandemic prevention, preparedness and response [taking into account the responsibilities of the global Internet governance system IRN ADD] [, while upholding the right to freedom of opinion and expression HS ADD] and to foster trust in [public AG ADD] health systems and [public health authorities and to promote USA ADD] [vaccine confidence and address vaccine hesitancy AG REPLACE] [; AG DELETE], while recognizing that the effective engagement of [relevant AG ADD] stakeholders [early in the pandemic response contributes to public confidence in the results of research and USA ADD] [and community groups CANZ ADD] requires access to timely and accurate [and evidence-based USA ADD] information [and awareness raising PAK ADD] [and making information available in accessible formats BGD ADD] [including through the use of digital health tools EU ADD] (WHA 74.7, OP32) [ARG MOVE NEXT TO OP28]

OVERARCHING HEALTH RELATED ISSUES

OP33pre. Welcome the attention paid in the global health strategies and the policies of many jurisdictions to the strengthening of primary health systems—which is essential both to regain the lost ground in reaching SDG3, including universal health coverage, and to prevent pandemics, prepare for and ensure resilience and a robust response to pandemics. As public health threats with pandemic potential start from the local level and communities, all countries require capacity for health security, supported by political commitment, sustainable financing and coordination. Support prioritisation of this issue in both global and domestic health action, supported by the HLM Political Declaration on UHC and the HLM Political Declaration on TB; [EU ADD]

OP33. Continue strengthening [regional PAK PLACEMENT], national, and local health systems [by advancing with the goal of achieving and sustaining JPN REPLACE] [by advancing and cross border collaboration to achieve EU REPLACE] [progress toward USA ADD] universal health coverage [and universal [and equitable BGD ADD] access to affordable [nationally determined sets of integrated SYR ADD] [high- USA ADD] quality essential [nationally determined PAK ADD] health[-care IDN ADD] services EU DELETE] [for all UKR, BRA ADD], which will [also EU ADD] enhance [their USA, EU DELETE] pandemic prevention, preparedness and response, with a focus on primary health care, [including community based health care BGD ADD] as well as the availability, accessibility [acceptability HS ADD] and affordability of quality health services and [quality JPN DELETE], safe, effective, [quality-assured JPN ADD] affordable and essential medicines, vaccines, [diagnostics—medical devices USA REPLACE] and [other HS ADD] health technologies [and health related information BGD ADD]; (A/RES/76/257, Verbatim OP4)

OP34. [Encourage Member States to Ssrengthen CHN REPLACE]—pandemic prevention [preparedness, and response USA ADD]—by [establishing exchange and coordination routines for EU ADD] Recognize that IDN replace] [utilizing and strengthening existing infrastructure, including for ongoing pandemics/global epidemics of COVID-19, HIV/AIDS, Malaria and TB, CANZ ADD] sharing experience and best practices, [on a regular and organized basis EU ADD] [by improving and maintaining infection prevention and control, sanitation and hygiene capacities and practices in health care, community and agriculture settings USA ADD] [play important part in strengthening pandemic prevention IDN ADD] and [to HS DELETE] raise the level of preparedness, including [enabling rapid diagnostics of drivers of outbreaks in animals of zoonotic potential and USA ADD] [surveillance and EU ADD] early warning systems, in order to have the earliest [and most HS ADD] and most adequate response to any [pandemic outbreak USA REPLACE] that may arise, [support communities in transitioning away from high-risk practices and towards other sources of livelihoods to support preventing and mitigating any outbreaks in animals, the environment, and humans USA ADD] [and recognizing also the [value necessity GBR REPLACE] of a [an inclusive and collaborative CANZ ADD] [One Health HS DELETE] approach that fosters cooperation between the human [health UKR, BRA DELETE], animal [health UKR, BRA DELETE], and [plant environmental GBR, EU REPLACE] [plant health CHN DELETE], as well as [environmental the wider environment CANZ REPLACE] and other relevant sectors, including [equal, timely access to benefits derived from and capacity building CHN ADD] through [strengthened EU ADD] collaboration [among with the Quadripartite represented by EU REPLACE] the World Health Organization, the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, the World [Organization Organisation GBR REPLACE] for Animal Health and the United Nations Environment Programme, and look forward to [seize the opportunity EU ADD] the high-level meeting on antimicrobial resistance to be held in 2024, USA DELETE] [to accelerate political action on AMR based on the One Health approach, while reaffirming the need to develop and implement national AMR One Health policies in line with the Quadripartite One Health Joint Plan of Action (OH JPA); EU ADD] (Based on A/RES/77/275, PP16) [DOM DELETE] [IRN RESERVE]

OP34alt. Strengthen pandemic prevention by adopting a “One Health” approach that fosters cooperation between the human health, animal health and plant health, as well as environmental and other relevant sectors, including through collaboration among the World Health Organization, the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, the World Organization for Animal Health and the United Nations Environment Programme, and look forward to the high-level meeting on antimicrobial resistance to be held in 2024, and recognizing also the value of sharing experience and best practices, and to raise the level of preparedness, including early warning systems, in order to have the earliest and most adequate response to any pandemic that may arise; [DOM ADD]

OP34bis. Make collective effort to strengthen developing countries capacity for increased innovation around local manufacturing of vaccines, therapeutics and diagnostics to ensure sustainability as well as to close the gaps in global distribution of vaccines; [AG ADD]

OP34bis. Call upon the Quadripartite to build on and strengthen their existing cooperation and intensify their efforts to implement actions included in their One Health Joint Plan of Action, particularly Action Tracks 1 (enhancing One Health capacities to strengthen health systems) and 2 (reducing the risks for emerging and re-emerging zoonotic epidemics and pandemics), including through ongoing collaboration with the One Health High Level Expert Panel and enhanced support for country level prioritisation and implementation of relevant actions, to improve the prevention, monitoring, detection, control and containment of zoonotic diseases, threats to health and ecosystems, the emergence and spread of antimicrobial resistance, and future health emergencies, by fostering cooperation and a coordinated approach between the human health, animal health and plant health sectors, environmental and other relevant sectors, and urge Member States to adopt an all-hazard, multisectoral and coordinated approach to prevention, preparedness and response for health emergencies, in the context of the One Health approach; (Based on A/RES/76/257) [GBR ADD]

OP34bis. Strengthen pandemic preparedness and response mechanisms by accelerating efforts to end the epidemics of AIDS, TB and malaria and by sharing experiences and best practices with the ongoing responses to the global HIV/AIDS, tuberculosis, and malaria epidemics, recognizing that there has been a substantial foundation built in these responses and acknowledging the integral role of civil society and communities in identifying outbreaks, preventing spread, socializing new technologies, strengthening public health measures, and implementing response programming; [CRI ADD]

OP34bis. Welcome that HIV-related investments in leadership, expertise, research and development, community responses, large cadres of community health workers, enhanced health information and laboratory systems and strengthened procurement and supply chain management systems now play important roles in the response to the COVID-19 pandemic, including the development of COVID-19 vaccines and ensure the systematic engagement of HIV responses in pandemic response infrastructure and arrangements, leveraging national HIV strategic plans to guide key elements of pandemic preparedness planning CANZ ADD (Based on paras 48 and 67e, A/Res/75/284)];

OP34bis. Recognizing that antimicrobial resistance could be an aggravating factor during

a pandemic, strengthen international action on the prevention of epidemics due to pathogens resistant to antimicrobial agents; [EU ADD]

OP35. [Call for Promote HS REPLACE] international cooperation and coordination [, HS DELETE] [in alignment with the Joint Plan of Action for One Health GBR ADD] [to [ensure HS DELETE] support [in HS DELETE] building [national and community level global, regional, national local community and cross-border GBR Replace] [including through the use of a AG ADD] [One Health HS DELETE] IND DELETE] [health ADD HS] [,and capabilities, implement actions to prevent pandemics from pathogens resistant to antimicrobial agents, taking into account relevant tools and guidelines, through a One Health approach, and collaborate with relevant partners, including the Quadripartite, EU ADD] [eapaeities approach AG REPLACE], enable rapid diagnostics of [comprehensively addressing the AG ADD] [drivers of GBR DELETE] outbreaks [with zoonotic potential USA PLACE HERE] in animals [caused by infectious agents [of with EU REPLACE] GBR DELETE] [zoonotic [spillover EU ADD] potential, USA CHANGE PLACEMENT] [and HS ADD] [support communities in-[education and GBR ADD]-transitioning away from high-risk practices and towards other sources of livelihood [to support in CANZ DELETE with a view to HS REPLACE]as part of efforts to AG REPLACE] preventing and mitigating [any HS DELETE] outbreaks in order to prevent spillover and spillback of infectious agents GBR REPLACE] in animals, the environment and humans [and addressing the consequences of climate change for zoonotic diseases EU ADD] during both inter-pandemic and pandemic times; (New language) [SYR, CHN DELETE]

OP35bis. Expand support for development and implementation of multisectoral national action plans and policies for preparedness, using an all-hazards and, as appropriate, One Health approaches, further enhancing synergies with health system strengthening, disease prevention and control, research and innovation, disaster risk management and relevant national plans in key sectors to enhance preparedness; [EU ADD]

OP35ter. Assess the vulnerabilities of cities and other human settlements to health emergencies, paying particular attention to communicable disease outbreaks, and [to] enhance preparedness by integrating policies, plans and exercises across health, urban planning, water and sanitation, environmental protection and other relevant sectors, [to] ensure local leadership and community involvement; [EU ADD]

OP35quat. Examine all relevant international conventions with a view to adjusting them if necessary to fully include One Health Principles, ensuring their contribution to prevention and early detection and zoonotic pathogens before they cross over to humans; [EU ADD]

OP36. Commit to [investing in gender equality and encourage human centered, ethical and public health driven design and EU ADD] utilizing innovative [sustainable (digital)

EU ADD] technologies, including ~~[including remote [mental EU DELETE]+ health services by tackling technology and capacity gap IDN REPLACE]~~ ~~[including remote [telemedican and USA ADD]-mental health serviees CHN DELETE]~~ ~~[remote mental health services medical health services PAK REPLACE]~~ [through promoting [equitable EU DELETE] [and inclusive GBR ADD] access to CANZ DELETE] [quality and affordable EU ADD] telemedicine and other essential ~~[and cost effective technologies, when feasible, open and cost-effective technologies, with all its diagnostic and treatment possibilities including in particular for mental health, when feasible and other personal treatment options are not available EU REPLACE]~~ [and as appropriate HS ADD][], in ~~[the context of addressing HS REPLACE]~~ the COVID-19 pandemic and beyond, and ~~[considering mitigating PAK ADD]~~ the lasting impacts of pandemics ARG DELETE] [including digitalized health documents supported by the World Health Organization's Global Digital Health Certification Network EU ADD]; (New language) **[AG, CRM DELETE]**

OP37. ~~[Call on national emergency committees, [where existent SYR ADD] health care providers, relevant organizations and other stakeholders to include~~ **Call on national governments and stakeholders, including emergency committees and other relevant structures, including on an ad hoc basis EU REPLACE]** mental health **[services AG ADD]**, well-being and psychosocial support **[needs AG DELETE]** in prevention, preparedness and response plans **[and, beyond PPR, call on authorities to consider EU ADD]** with due **[attention consideration GBR REPLACE]** **[the needs of the most vulnerable populations living in humanitarian and crisis-affected contexts, and EU ADD]** to the longer-term funding required to build or rebuild **[community-based AG DELETE]**, **[resilient CRM DELETE]** mental health services **[at the national and local community level AG ADD]** after pandemics and **[other ARG ADD]** health emergencies **[and in this regard, utilize innovative technologies through promoting equitable access to telemedicine CRM ADD]**; (New language) **[PAK, CHN, RUS DELETE]**

OP38. ~~[Call [also PAK DELETE] for the improvement of Strengthen and expand HS REPLACE]~~ ~~[Call also for the improvement of Improve CRM REPLACE]~~ routine immunization, vaccination and outreach capacities, including by **[providing [science CHN ADD] evidence-based [and target group specific EU ADD] information on [countering promoting USA REPLACE]-vaccine hesitaney confidence, uptake, and demand USA REPLACE]** scaling up proven innovations to generate behavioral insights and data, engage communities, generate demand and combat misinformation CRI REPLACE] **[and scaling up proven innovations BGD ADD]**, and expand vaccine coverage to prevent outbreaks as well as the spread and re-emergence of communicable diseases, including for **[vaccine-preventable diseases already eliminated for vaccine preventable and eradicated diseases BGD REPLACE]** as well as for ongoing eradication efforts, **[such as for poliomyelitis MEX DELETE]** **[including for vaccine-preventable diseases already eliminated as well as for ongoing eradication efforts, such as for poliomyelitis [and measles EU ADD] CHN DELETE]** (Based on A/RES/74/2, OP31)

OP38bis. Call to prioritize the fight against antimicrobial resistance (AMR) by strengthening infection control, promoting responsible use of antimicrobials, and fostering international collaboration, to safeguard public health and preserve the effectiveness of treatments, Strengthening national, regional, and local health systems, including universal health coverage; [DOM ADD]

OP38bis. Given the global nature of the tuberculosis epidemic and the critical public health challenge of drug-resistant tuberculosis, and acknowledging that progress in tuberculosis programmes, particularly their laboratory infrastructures and health workforce, were in the frontline of the response to the COVID-19 pandemic, promote tuberculosis services as essential elements of national and global strategies and efforts to advance universal health coverage, to address antimicrobial resistance, and to strengthen pandemic preparedness, prevention and response as an essential step towards achieving and maintaining UHC and accelerating progress on the SDGs with the aim of leaving no one behind; [JPN ADD]

OP38bis. Call for continued international collaboration and coordination to strengthen global surveillance governance and systems at all levels focused on the routine, day-to-day monitoring of human, animal and environmental health systems and eco-systems which promote the early detection and analysis of emerging pathogens of pandemic and epidemic potential; [GBR ADD]

OP38ter. Commit to addressing AMR as an integral part of PPPR through national action plans on health security and AMR with a One Health approach and advancing PPPR and AMR in tandem, looking forward to the UN High-Level Meeting on AMR in 2024; [GBR ADD]

FINANCING AND INVESTMENTS

OP39pre. Recognize that health financing requires global solidarity and collective effort and commit to strengthen international cooperation to support efforts to build and strengthen capacity in developing countries, especially African countries, including through enhanced official development assistance and financial and technical support and support to research, development and innovation programs; (Based on A/RES/74/2 and A/RES/76/257 OP11) [AG ADD]

OP39. [Mobilize Ensure sustainable and adequate EU REPLACE] [international sources supported by IND ADD] [domestic public IRN DELETE] resources [as [one of CHN ADD] the main source of financing ARG, IRN DELETE] [for health and in particular EU ADD] for pandemic prevention preparedness and response, [as well as regional financing where applicable, EU ADD] through [international cooperation and IRN ADD] political leadership, [consistent with national [and regional priorities, targets and EU ADD] [priorities and CHN ADD] capacities USA DELETE] [and priorities ARG ADD], and expand pooling of resources allocated to health, identify new sources of

revenue [and while improving IRN REPLACE] the efficiency of public financial management; (Based on WHO EB152(5) OP1 (5) and A/RES/74/2 Paragraph 41) [IDN, AG, SYR, EU DELETE]

OP39alt. Ensure sufficient domestic public spending on health, where appropriate, expand pooling of resources allocated to health, maximize efficiency and ensure equitable allocation of health spending, to deliver cost-effective, essential, affordable, timely and quality health services, improve service coverage, reduce impoverishment from health expenditure and ensure financial risk protection, while noting the role of private sector investment, as appropriate; (Based on A/RES/74/2 Paragraph 41) [AG, SYR ADD]

OP39alt. Ensure timely, adequate, predictable, evidence-based and sustainable financing for infrastructure and capacities, while improving their effectiveness to support national efforts in strengthening pandemic prevention, preparedness and response, in accordance with national contexts and priorities, through domestic, bilateral, regional and multilateral channels, including international cooperation, financial and technical assistance, considering the use of traditional and innovative financing mechanisms, as well as partnerships with the private sector and other relevant stakeholders; [IDN MOVE OP41 HERE]

OP40. Strengthen international cooperation [with the principle of common but differentiated responsibilities CHN ADD] [and coordination GBR ADD] [and financial commitments PAK, BGD, CRI ADD] [financial and investment commitments VNM ADD] to support efforts to build [and USA DELETE] strengthen [, and sustain USA ADD] capacity for pandemic prevention, preparedness and response, [including research capacity USA ADD] in [developing low-and middle-income EU REPLACE] countries, [including through enhanced official development assistance GBR DELETE] [(ODA) CHN ADD] [additional to the existing commitments BGD ADD] [and adequate surge financing for future responses PAK ADD] [and other means of innovative financing and commit to invest additional resources in providing assistance to developing countries, in particular African countries, to enable their health systems to be better prepared and to provide health facilities, goods and services that are available, accessible, and of high quality, while recognizing that all people should be able to receive high-quality health care without financial hardship AG ADD] [and adequate surge financing for future responses CRI ADD] (Based on A/RES/76/257, OP12) [CHE, MEX DELETE]

OP40bis. Strongly urges all States to refrain from taking any unilateral economic, financial or trade measures, which adversely affect equitable, affordable, fair, timely and universal access to vaccines, medicine, medical products and other tools necessary

pandemic prevention, preparedness and response, in particular in developing countries; [IRN ADD]

OP41. [Ensure Promote USA REPLACE] [Ensure Promote well-articulated, complementary, EU REPLACE] timely, [adequate GBR DELETE], [predictable, SGP DELETE] [evidence-based IRN DELETE] [timely, adequate, predictable, evidence-based and CHN DELETE] and [domestic EU ADD] sustainable [domestic USA ADD] financing [avoiding overlaps and aiming at supporting investments with multiplying effect in infrastructure and capacities in a coordinated manner EU ADD] for [health systems GBR ADD] [national health systems and CRM ADD] [infrastructure and core CANZ REPLACE] [capabilities and EU ADD] capacities, [as defined in the International Health Regulations (2005) CANZ ADD] [while and IRN REPLACE] improving [their effectiveness to support USA DELETE] national efforts in strengthening pandemic prevention, preparedness and response, [including for rapid surge financing response (in the event of a public health emergency of international concern), CRM ADD] in accordance with national [contexts fiscal capacities GBR REPLACE] and priorities, [through [domestic CRM DELETE], bilateral, regional and multilateral channels, [including international cooperation, [for PAK ADD] financial and technical assistance, [upon request IRN ADD] considering the use of traditional and innovative [global and regional BGD ADD] financing mechanisms, [within their respective mandates BGD ADD] [prioritizing grants and debt relief AG ADD] as well as partnerships with the private sector [civil society, the science-community CRI ADD] and other relevant stakeholders GBR, EU DELETE] [, as appropriate IRN ADD] [and call upon national governments and the international financial institutions and development banks to ensure that global financing mechanisms support these efforts – including identifying and addressing gaps in surge financing provision to enable a rapid response in the event of another pandemic GBR ADD] [recognizing the acute need for global solidarity to achieve shared goals AG ADD] [and identify or establish sources of dedicated and sustainable global surge financing for pandemic responses that can be used to finance the development, procurement and distribution of pandemic-related medical countermeasures; NOR ADD]; (New language)

OP41alt. Ensure sufficient domestic public spending on health, where appropriate, expand pooling of resources allocated to health, maximize efficiency and ensure equitable allocation of health spending, to deliver cost-effective, essential, affordable, timely and quality health services, improve service coverage, reduce impoverishment from health expenditure and ensure financial risk protection, while noting the role of private sector investment, as appropriate; (Based on A/RES/74/2 Paragraph 41 verbatim) [CRM ADD†

OP42. [Commit to Member States commit to promote EU REPLACE] [establishing new and/or AG ADD] leveraging existing financing tools [including support from multilateral development banks, USA ADD] [and to explore [, if needed USA ADD] potential options AG DELETE] to mobilize additional timely, reliable, [flexible EU Add]

equitable, predictable and sustainable funding for pandemic prevention, preparedness [and AG DELETE] response [and recovery AG ADD] [including research response USA ADD], as well as [identifying USA ADD] funding for rapid surge [financing JPN DELETE] [for USA ADD] response[s USA ADD] in the event of [a public health emergency of international concern a health emergency USA REPLACE], and [to consider AG DELETE] strengthening global health financing mechanisms, as well as their roles and responsibilities [through the agreement on financing framework for health emergencies PAK ADD] [by exploring options for surge financing mechanisms and how they could be made operational, considering already existing financing mechanisms and existing resources, especially untapped funding streams and to consider strengthening financing mechanisms for global health and other relevant sectors, as well as their roles and responsibilities, and to consider strengthening global health financing mechanisms, as well as their roles and responsibilities EU REPLACE]; (Based on A/RES/76/257, OP10) [GBR, CRM DELETE]

OP43. [Call on member states and international financial institutions to commit PAK ADD] [Commit further Urges Member States to contribute CHN REPLACE] further to sustainable [, predictable and flexible CANZ ADD] financing [that provides adequate and predictable funding CANZ DELETE] [including through unearmarked resources IND ADD] to the World Health Organization, which enables it to have the resources needed to fulfil its core functions as defined in its Constitution, noting the importance of transformation, increased transparency, accountability and efficiency gains in the World Health Organization [and stressing the relevance and importance of adequate funding of the World Health Organization Contingency Fund for Emergencies for its rapid response to health emergencies; (A/RES/76/257, Verbatim OP9) [GTM SUPPORT RETAINING PARA AS IT IS] [CHE, MEX, EU DELETE]

OP43alt. Further urges Member States to contribute to sustainable financing that provides adequate, flexible and predictable funding to the World Health Organization in line with the recommendations of the Working Group on Sustainable Financing, which enables it the World Health Organization to have the resources needed to fulfil its core functions as defined in its Constitution, noting the importance of current governance reform processes, increased transparency, accountability and efficiency gains in the World Health Organization and stressing the relevance and importance of adequate funding of the World Health Organization Contingency Fund for Emergencies for its rapid response to health emergencies; [EU ADD]

OP43bis. Improve availability, affordability and efficiency of health products by increasing transparency of prices of medicines, vaccines, medical devices, diagnostics, assistive products, cell- and gene-based therapies and other health technologies across the value chain, including through improved regulations, harmonization of medical products regulation and building constructive engagement and a stronger partnership with relevant stakeholders, including industries, the private sector and civil society, in accordance with national and regional legal frameworks and contexts,

to address the global concern about the high prices of some health products and in this regard encourage the World Health Organization to continue its efforts to biennially convene the Fair Pricing Forum with Member States and all relevant stakeholders to discuss the affordability and transparency of prices and costs relating to health products; (Based on para 51 UHC PD) [AG ADD]

OP43bis. Commit further to promote mobilizing sustainable and sufficient financing from all sources for the Pandemic Fund as a key mechanism to achieve pandemic prevention, and preparedness worldwide, to help low and middle incomes in particular to be better prepared for future pandemics, as well as for other international health organizations and initiatives performing relevant tasks in strengthening pandemic prevention, and preparedness; [EU ADD]

FOLLOW-UP

As a follow-up to the present political declaration, we:

OP44. ~~[Call also for Urges Member States to conclude AG REPLACE] [Call also for the Reaffirm our collective commitment to the CANZ REPLACE] [the conclusion; AG DELETE]~~ ~~in 2024 of the negotiations of the Intergovernmental Negotiating Body in Geneva, of an ambitious and legally binding convention, agreement, or other international instrument[s UKR ADD]~~ ~~[on pandemic prevention, preparedness and response, with a view to adoption under Article 19 of the Constitution of the World Health Organization, or under other provisions of the Constitution of the World Health Organization as may be deemed appropriate by the Intergovernmental Negotiating Body~~ Call also the International Negotiating Body (INB) to submit, for consideration of the 77th WHA, the outcome of the negotiations of a WHO convention, agreement or other international instrument on pandemic prevention, preparedness and response, with a view to adoption under Article 19 of the WHO Constitution, without prejudice to also considering, as work progresses, the suitability of Article 21 of the WHO Constitution ~~CHE REPLACE~~ to strengthen ~~[the CHE DELETE]~~ ~~[pandemic prevention, preparedness and response]~~ ~~[spectrum of the international community PAK REPLACE]~~ health emergency architecture ARG REPLACE] [full EU ADD] ~~[pandemic prevention, preparedness and response spectrum and inviting all other initiatives]~~ ~~[be informed by, align with and EU ADD]~~ to support this central endeavor ~~CHE DELETE]~~, ~~[CANZ SPLIT PARA HERE]~~ ~~[and Call CANZ REPLACE]~~ ~~[for the conclusion in [May EU ADD] 2024 of the negotiations of the Working Group on [Amendments to the CANZ, EU ADD] International Health Regulations]~~ ~~[Amendments EU DELETE] (2005),~~ ~~[recognizing the Regulations as the principal international legal framework to prevent, protect against, control and provide a public health response to the international spread of disease, and CANZ ADD]~~ call also the Working Group on Amendments to the International Health Regulations ~~[Regulations EU DELETE 2005 (WGIHR)]~~ to propose a package of targeted amendments, for consideration by the Seventy-seventh World Health Assembly, in

accordance with Article 55 of the International Health Regulations (2005) CHE REPLACE] to provide [support to a framework for GBR REPLACE] all [the GBR DELETE] health and health-related measures necessary to prevent, [prepare for, PAK ADD] protect against, control and provide a public health response to the international spread of disease, [, in full respect of human rights and fundamental freedoms, including freedom of religion or belief HS ADD] [taking fully into consideration that the WHO CA+ and the amended IHR should be complementary and consistent, without duplication JPN ADD]; (New language) [MEX, RUS DELETE] [IRN, CRM RESERVE] [CHN MOVE TO PP SECTION]

OP44alt. Call also for the conclusion in 2024 of the negotiations of the Intergovernmental Negotiating Body in Geneva, of an ambitious and legally binding convention, agreement, or other international instrument on pandemic prevention, preparedness and response, and for the conclusion in 2024 of the negotiations of the Working Group on Amendments to the International Health Regulations (2005), to strengthen the Regulations to better prevent, protect against, control and provide a public health response to the international spread of disease, as well as coordination between the Intergovernmental Negotiating Body and Working Group on Amendments to the International Health Regulations as critical aspects of the pandemic prevention, preparedness, and response architecture; [USA ADD]

OP45. Request the Secretary-General to provide, in consultation with the World Health Organization and other relevant agencies, [in particular other Quadripartite organizations GBR ADD] a report including recommendations on the implementation of the present declaration towards strengthening pandemic prevention, preparedness and response during the seventy-ninth session of the General Assembly, which will serve to inform a high-level meeting to be convened in [2026 CANZ, EU RESERVE]; (New language) [CHE, IDN, GBR, IRN, CRM RESERVE]

OP46. Decide to convene a high-level meeting on pandemic prevention, preparedness and response in [2026 CANZ, EU RESERVE] in New York, aimed to undertake a comprehensive review of the implementation of the present declaration [to strengthen pandemic prevention, preparedness and response ARG DELETE], the scope and modalities of which shall be decided no later than the seventy-ninth session of the General Assembly, taking into consideration [and in full coordination EU ADD] the outcomes [and institutional agreements EU ADD] of other ongoing related processes to strengthen [the international collaboration on EU ADD] pandemic prevention, preparedness and response. (New language) [CHE, IDN, GBR, IRN, CRM RESERVE]